
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Candida Mckelvey, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 07895 213820 

 

E-mail: candida.mckelvey@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 17 September 2021 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 
 

 
 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Climate and Ecological Emergencies 

Advisory Committee 

 
WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 27 SEPTEMBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
 
VIRTUAL MEETING 
 
Watch the meeting live here:  
https://www.youtube.com/c/southandvalecommitteemeetings 

 
Members of the Committee: 

Sam Casey-Rerhaye (Chair) 

Sue Cooper 
Stefan Gawrysiak 
Kate Gregory 
Lynn Lloyd 
 

Jane Murphy 
Caroline Newton 
Andrea Powell 
Leigh Rawlins 
 

Sue Roberts 
David Rouane 
Celia Wilson (Vice-Chair) 
 

Substitutes 

Ken Arlett 
Robin Bennett 
Maggie Filipova-Rivers 
Elizabeth Gillespie 
Victoria Haval 
 

Lorraine Hillier 
Kellie Hinton 
Alexandrine Kantor 
Mocky Khan 
Axel Macdonald 
 

Jo Robb 
Anne-Marie Simpson 
Alan Thompson 
Vacancy 
vacancy 
 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 

 
1  Chair's announcements   

 
To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters. 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/c/southandvalecommitteemeetings


  2 

 

 
2  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members. 

 
3  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

 
4  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent.  

 
5  Minutes (Pages 5 - 14) 

 
To approve the minutes of the meeting on 26 April 2021 as a correct record, and for the 
chair to sign them as such. 
 
The informal notes from the meeting of committee members on 07 June 2021 are 
included for the committee to note. 

 
6  Public participation   

 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.   

 
7  South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils 

Policy for Planting Trees on Council Land (Pages 15 - 22) 
 

Committee to consider the draft Tree Planting on Council Land Policy.  
Introduced by Cllr Ian Snowden, Tree Champion. 
Reporting officer – Elizabeth Kingdom 

 
8  Retrofit Scrutiny Report - Feedback from Joint Scrutiny 

Committee and discussion (Pages 23 - 52) 
 

For CEEAC to consider a report and feedback from Joint Scrutiny. 
 
Introduced by Committee Chair, Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye. 

 
9  Future Oxfordshire Partnership - Environment Advisory Group   

 
A verbal update will be provided to CEEAC. Introduced by Councillor Sue Cooper. 
Reporting officer – Michelle Wells. 
 
 

 



  3 

 

10  Pathways to Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report (Pages 53 - 61) 
 

For CEEAC to consider the Pathways to Zero Carbon Oxfordshire summary. Introduced 
by Councillor Sue Cooper. 
Reporting Officer – Michelle Wells. 

 
11  The Oxfordshire Local Government Pension Fund - Exclusion of 

fossil fuel investments   
 

A verbal update on the Oxfordshire Local Government Pension Fund – Exclusion of fossil 
fuel investments. 
Introduced by Councillor Jo Robb. 

 
 
 
 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

 

 
 



 1 

Notes 

 

OF AN INFORMAL MEETING OF 
  

Climate and Ecological Emergencies 

Advisory Committee (CEEAC) members 

 
HELD AT 6.00 PM ON MONDAY 7 JUNE 2021 
 
This was an informal, virtual meeting of CEEAC members. Watch the recording here: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UiHK9jvhhsM&t=207s 
 
 

Present  
Councillors (committee members): Sam Casey-Rerhaye (chair), Sue Cooper, Stefan 
Gawrysiak, Kate Gregory, Lynn Lloyd, Caroline Newton, Andrea Powell, Leigh Rawlins, 
Sue Roberts, David Rouane, Andrea Warren (sub), Celia Wilson. 
 
Apologies – Jane Murphy 
  

Officers  
 
Harry Barrington-Mountford, Andy Egan, Elizabeth Kingdom, Suzanne Malcolm, Candida 
Mckelvey, Heather Saunders, Chris Traill and Michelle Wells 
 

Guests 
Nick Mariner and Kath Daly, on behalf of Chilterns Conservation Board. 
  
 
  
 

106 Chair's announcements  
 
General comments on committee remit. 

 The committee members discussed the monitoring role of CEEAC in the Corporate 
Plan, and the number of Cabinet Members in the committee. It was suggested that 
Cabinet members on the committee could send a substitute member to committee 
for monitoring agenda items, for good governance. 

 It was confirmed that the item raised by a public speaker, on the formation of a 
National Park, would be considered by officers. Future ideas for agenda items can 
be sent directly to committee chair. 

 Communication with Town and Parish is important. 

 Use of task and finish groups are important to keep up the momentum of the 
committee’s work 

 Wanting a standing agenda item for future items 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 4

Agenda Item 4

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UiHK9jvhhsM&t=207s


 2 

111 Chilterns Conservation Board  
 
CEEAC members were presented to by Chilterns Conservation Board. The committee 
members found the presentation and pamphlet illuminating and were impressed by the 
work done to engage and support farmers, and the creation of networks/clusters. 
CCB are working on helping to prepare farmers for environmental land management 
scheme. CCB wish to seek strengthened support from district councils. 

 A member suggested that a countryside survey could be reinstated, as we need to 
know what is on the land to protect it. 

 The Growth Board was mentioned, as they are setting up an environmental group  
 
 

112 River Thames Champion  
 
Cllr Jo Robb presented to the committee members on setting up a World River Day 
celebration, to share all the good work happening and all the results of networking so far. 
There was a long list of contributors that could be involved. A clean-up day was 
suggested.  
 
Bathing water quality status was being applied for in Wallingford. District to support Town 
Council, but it’s the Town Council’s application. 
Real-time information on sewage release into rivers was wanted. 
 
There is a Thames Valley River Network – a group of councillors who have met, with a set 
of guiding principles. Working towards an end to sewage release, working with Thames 
Water. 
 
Cllr Robb will keep the committee updated on the clean-up day, and she suggested the 
committee members could undertake investigation into building regulations and planning, 
and the connection of water companies. What can we implement in the design guide and 
joint local plan? 
 
Councillors were agreed that there were issues with the infrastructure not being able to 
handle demands of new housing and climate changes. 
It was suggested that more people need to draw attention to the problems of overflowing 
sewage and overburden of the system. Do we meet with Thames Water? 
It was concurred that the Thames Champion was needed and worthwhile. 
 

113 The Development of South Oxfordshire Tree Policy  
 
A strategic policy on planting on council owned land. 

 Committee members felt strongly that this was a high-level policy and that they 
didn’t have enough information to comment on content 

 When is a tree not a tree – the importance of hedgerows was raised. 

 Tree Protection Orders (TPOs) – we tend to know of threatened trees right before 
its threatened, we need a system that enables us to protect important trees ahead 
of any threat. 

 The members were interested to see how the tree planting policy dovetails with the 
TPO policy, and whether the TPO policy is fit for purpose in line with this. 

 Suggested penalties. Plant a large number trees if a mature valuable tree is felled 
without permission. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 3 

 It was quoted that the House of Commons Climate Change Committee has 
proposed that 30k hectares of woodland should be planted every year. There is 
also a Gov target of 300k new dwellings per annum. So, on average 1 hectare of 
woodland should be planted for every 10 dwellings. 

 A task and finish group were suggested by Chair, as there was some discussion 
about giving the committee members more time to review content. 

 Suzanne Malcolm added that this item presented by Elizabeth Kingdom is 
specifically regarding planting on Council owned land – we currently have no policy 
for this. Locals want to get to work on this, but a mechanism is needed. Task and 
Finish is recommended.  

 Felt there was no gain in rushing – tree planting is best in winter. Chair suggested 
that people need time to apply and for officers to process these. Suzanne Malcolm 
stated that the month suggested for planting was November. Also need Legal 
process to go through and have it signed off. 

 Other councillors saw it as being imperative to bring this forward soon. 

 Confirmed that it will be reviewed yearly, including how it links with other policies. 
 
In summary 

 Councillors would like the strategy renamed, as it is specific to council owned land. 
Councillors wish to see the policy wording beforehand to comment via email. 

 

114 Task and finish group update  
 
Retrofitting update – Cosy Homes and OxLEP- useful sessions had. Oxford Brookes, 
Aspire, and Abingdon and Witney College will be presenting to the group shortly. 
DEFRA Task and finish group – 5 environment principles of the environment bill – our 
response went in by 2nd June.  We gave constructive feedback on improving the guidance. 
Suggested an equity principle and a restoration principle. Committee members saw the 
submitted response. Some felt strongly that the principles had been diluted from the 
environment bill. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 20.21pm 
 
 
 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



 1 

Minutes 

 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
  

Climate and Ecological Emergencies 

Advisory Committee 

 
HELD AT 4.00 PM ON MONDAY 26 APRIL 2021 
 
Watch the meeting recording: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MtwnNYMWH9k 
 
 

Present  
 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye (Chair) 
Sue Cooper, Kate Gregory, Lynn Lloyd, Caroline Newton, Andrea Powell, Leigh Rawlins, 
Sue Roberts, David Rouane and Celia Wilson 
 

Officers  
Harry Barrington-Mountford, Andy Egan, Elizabeth Kingdom, Suzanne Malcolm, Candida 
Mckelvey, Heather Saunders and Michelle Wells. 
  
 

Also present: 
Public speaker – Mr Oliver De Soissons 
Ben Taylor from Trust for Oxfordshire Environment (TOE) 
 
  
 

92 Chair's announcements  
 
The new committee chair, Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye, opened the meeting by 
announcing that there would be election of a vice chair in this meeting. Previous 
committee chair, Councillor Roberts, was thanked for her hard work and commitment to 
the committee in its first year, establishing terms and the remit, which was a challenging 
task. Councillor Roberts will remain a CEEAC member. 
 
The progress of the committee was reviewed after its first year, and this was going to be 
looked at in this meeting. This was a good time to review and refocus in light of the new 
corporate plan objectives and a change in chair. The CEEAC has helped set the 
foundation of the council’s climate emergency focus. The climate and ecological 
implications section in officer reports was a good example. 
 
Town and Parish Forum on 27 May will be focused on climate. 
It was noted that it was Earth Day last week. 
 
Please take a look at the new South Oxfordshire climate pages on our website. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MtwnNYMWH9k


 2 

The Local Nature Partnership was being set up in Oxfordshire and a link to the meeting on 
11 May would be circulated to the CEEAC. 
 

93 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies were given from Councillors Stefan Gawrysiak and Jane Murphy. 
 
Chair encouraged members to provide a substitute member where possible to involve as 
many councillors as possible. 
 

94 Appointment of a Vice-chair  
 
It was proposed that Councillor Celia Wilson be elected as vice chair of the CEEAC. This 
was seconded and agreed. 
 
It was noted that Councillor Wilson was committed to the CEEAC and would make a good 
vice chair. However, it was noted that there may be changes to committees after the bi 
elections. 
 

95 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

96 Urgent business 
 
Councillor Roberts did mention the Zero Carbon Homes Initiative and said she would send 
information to the committee that may be of interest. 
 

97 Minutes of the last meeting  
 
The minutes of the 28 October 2020 and the minutes of 30 November 2020 were 
reviewed. 
 
Celia Wilson wanted her apologies added to 28 October meeting, as it was not noted in 
the minutes. 
 
Item 79 on the minutes of 28 October 2020 – Chair mentioned the five bullet points – the 
last two were actions for the council – do we have any updates? Suzanne Malcolm 
updated the committee. The CIL strategy started in April 2021. Work is continuing and 
liaison with other colleagues from other departments. 
 
Resolved: 
To agree the minutes of the 28 October 2020 and the minutes of 30 November 2020 as 
correct records, and the chair will sign them as such. 
 

98 Public participation  
 
Oliver De Soissons registered to speak. 
 
“I am asking your committee to support the creation of a landscape and nature park in the 
Stowood-Otmoor-Bernwood area covering 80 square kilometres- as part of implementing 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



 3 

the ecology Emergency resolution. This will protect this area of high-quality wildlife sites 
and distinctive landscapes from fragmentation and degradation by roads and 
development, while facilitating the creation of larger nature reserves needed to make 
nature more resilient to climate change. 
 
The proposed Park’s nearness to Oxford, Bicester and Wheatley makes it ideal for 
sustainable transport initiatives to provide equality of access to varied landscapes, quiet 
countryside and nature of large wildlife sites. The Cherwell Valley on the SODC northern 
boundary is an exciting opportunity to create a visitor focused wetland reserve and Leisure 
Park, accessible by foot, train and cycle. 
 
The support of SODC is vital to implementation of the ‘Park’ vision. This is through its own 
strategic planning powers and its participation with the emerging County and regional (Ox-
Cam Arc) plans, including the Local Nature Partnership and Nature Enhancement 
Networks, and County Transport Plan. About a quarter of the proposed Park is within 
SODC, so collaboration with other Councils will be vital. 
 
Local Designation of the Park could unlock substantial investment from Government 
schemes on habitat creation and landscape restoration, including priority in the Agricultural 
support payments. Bus support funds could also become available. 
 
I urge the committee to support further work by SODC on implementing the Park and give 
this area vital protection it needs and placing it high on the priority list for nature and 
landscape initiatives both locally and under national schemes.” 
 
Councillor Roberts asked for clarification of political support for this. Oxford City was 
confirmed as showing support as well as other individuals. 
 
Councillor Wilson asked what was the nature of support wanted from the district council? It 
was responded, if the council accepted the idea, could it be put into Supplementary 
Planning Documents and a potentially bigger area strategies with other councils. Prioritise 
the area and join up other nature reserves.  
 
The committee thanked Mr De Soissons for his time. 
 

99 CEEAC review  
 
This report was to note the findings and focus on the recommendations within. 
Cabinet member Councillor Andrea Powell introduced the report. 
The achievements of CEEAC were reviewed so far and looking forward to what it can 
achieve in light of the new corporate plan and declared climate emergency. 
 
The panel asked questions and made comments. 

 It was felt that this information was wanted and is very useful to Parish councils 
doing similar work – a way to get advice from the District. 

 It was confirmed that the Council Leader will be looking at the Cabinet role in 
climate emergency work, with a Cabinet Lead taking more explicit responsibility. 

 It was confirmed that quarterly meetings were appropriate and would tie into the 
corporate plan timetable. Flexibility on frequency if needed. 

 Do we put the corporate plan as a standing agenda item? Fully integrate and align – 
this was covered in the next agenda item. 

 External speakers – will this be like a select committee / fact finding? It was 
confirmed that this would be the thinking behind having external speakers. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 4 

 A discussion was had regarding the fact we need to remember that we were an 
advisory role, we are not an executive function. Cabinet delivers through CEEAC 
recommendations. 

 
A summary of recommendations: 

 Chair to reiterate the role of CEEAC 

 New additional support from officers – two Climate Action Leads. 

 Delivery of climate objectives in the corporate plan would be delivered via 
CEEAC – a link between Cabinet delivery and CEEAC advice. 

 Engagement – need more to inform – there will be a dedicated communications 
plan, forums and new webpages. Councillor Lynn Lloyd will share these. 

 CEEAC should work closer with the corporate plan delivery. CEEAC to advise 
and be part of the monitoring process. CEEAC meetings to be in tune with the 
release of monitoring reports. 

 Biodiversity Working Group to be set up – agenda item later in the meeting. 

 Structure the agenda with some standard items. 

 Task and Finish groups were agreed as successful and should continue. 

 Frequency of meetings - some debate on this item, it was suggested the CEEAC 
needed to align with Cabinet meetings also. Council Leader Councillor Cooper 
added that Cabinet meetings change quite a lot so might not be the best guide. 
Corporate plan monitoring may be the best guide, and Cabinet meetings could 
move if needed. Chair added that quarterly meetings can be complimented by 
task and finish groups, a lot of work can be done that way. A lot of officer work 
goes into creating reports for meetings. 

 Chair of CEEAC should brief Cabinet on recommendations. 

 Bring in external speakers. 
 
Resolved: 
To note the contents of the report and the progress made, and for the Cabinet member 
and officers take on board the comments made.  
 
  
 

100 Climate Action Plan Development  
 
The Climate Action Plan item was introduced by Cabinet member Andrea Powell. 
This item was for approving the development process. 
There were different strands, and different roles to play. We had set the baselines and 
information gathering, and we are moving from strategy to delivery. 
It was clear that there are many teams involved in the work of the corporate plan. The 
report explained who is responsible for what, and what reporting to expect. 
 
Questions and comments as follows: 

 The subject of biodiversity had a ‘working group’ because it was considered a top 
priority and a new area of work for the council with a strong desire from residents to 
work on this area. Other priorities were communications engagement plan and the 
carbon management plan. There was officer support for all of these areas. These 
areas were also interlinked. The group will enable us to identify and take projects 
forward and help them get through future budget rounds. 

 Paragraph 17: It was queried if the dates of the first three items had been met? 
Confirmed yes. Team effort is focused. 

 Discussed joint working with other districts/county. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 5 

 It was agreed that the group was needed. 

 The paper explained how group members would be selected. 
 
The committee were happy to approve the development process. The CAP will have an 
initial test via the Town and Parish Council Forum. Thanks were given to officers involved. 
 
 
Recommendation 
That CEEAC recommended the proposed developed process for the Climate Action Plan 
to Cabinet 
 

101 2021/22 Climate Action and Biodiversity Work Programme  
 
The committee was asked to note progress so far and approve the 21/22 programme and 
approve the corporate plan monitoring reports to come to CEEAC. This item was 
introduced by Councillor Sue Cooper, who viewed this as a sensible way forward. 
 
Questions and comments were as follows: 

 It was felt that more long-term employment of officers supporting this work should 
be supported. 

 A discussion was had regarding the need for more retrofitting skills locally, and the 
work that councillors were doing in this area, including discussions with other 
interested parties. OxLEP are due to report on this at the June Oxfordshire Growth 
Board meeting. 

 Partnership working viewed as key. 
 
The committee noted the progress and contents of this report and agreed with the 
recommendations in the report. 
 
Recommendations 
Committee approved the submission of the proposed 2021/22 climate action and 
biodiversity work programmes to Cabinet, and: 
 
Committee recommended to Cabinet that the proposed quarterly Corporate Plan 2020-24 
performance reports are brought forward to the CEEAC, in order for them to check, 
challenge and provide advice on project progress to Cabinet, against the projects included 
in this work programme for 2021/22.   
 

102 South Oxfordshire - Ecological Emergency Declaration and 
Biodiversity Steering Group  
 
Biodiversity Working Group was the new name, since the report was published. The 
committee discussed the report and its recommendations. 
 

 This will be a joint South and Vale effort. Shared working, experience and 
resources. Partnership working. 

 Regarding feeding into Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and Ox-Cam ARC – the working 
group will report back to CEEAC, but lobbying will come from the CEEAC directly, 
not the group. Any consultations could be part of a focus group that will feed back 
into the CEEAC. Cabinet member will feed recommendations from CEEAC to 
Cabinet. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 6 

 Importance of working with Parish Councils – spread good practice, there were 
some good groups at Parish level. 

 
Resolved: 
To note the progress and implementation plans and agree with the recommendations in 
the report on forming a Biodiversity Working Group. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
Committee recommended to Cabinet the establishment of a joint South and Vale member 
and officer Biodiversity Steering Group, as part of the implementation of the motion 
declaring an Ecological Emergency in South Oxfordshire and to assist the Council in 
scoping projects in the Corporate Plan 2020-24 under Theme – Protect and Restore the 
Natural World which are currently subject to future discretionary growth. 
 

103 DEFRA Consultation launched on environmental principles  
 
Chair asked the committee for nominations for a Task and Finish group to respond to this 
consultation. 
Volunteers were Councillors Sue Cooper and Sue Roberts. Councillor Lynn Lloyd may be 
able to join, to be confirmed. Officers Andy Egan and Dominic Lamb will be involved. 
Consultation ends on 2 June. 
The task and finish group would meet on 17th May between 6 and 7pm to discuss the five 
principles. 
 
 

104 Trust for Oxfordshire Environment presentation  
 
Guest speaker, Ben Taylor of Trust for Oxfordshire Environment (TOE) presented a 
PowerPoint to the committee.  
 
The presentation in summary: 
TOE was set up to administer landfill tax funds. Founded in 2011. 
TOE is an independent enabler of nature restoration and enable access to green spaces. 
We secured £700k funding from Network Rail. 
With the advent of biodiversity net gain, we have begun operating with local district 
councils, to administer biodiversity net gain funding. 
 
We are asking for district council support for how we can increase interest from 
businesses. 
 
We are seeing successes across the county for biodiversity gains rather than losses. 
Examples – otters and bitterns. 
 
We are proposing a nature champion scheme – a public financial pledge of support from 
businesses. Ringfenced funding for community based environmental projects. Small scale 
but impactful, and accessible. 
 
Discussion: 
When the chair invited the committee to ask questions, some councillors showed support 
of this partnership working. Working with universities was mentioned as a potential 
partnership. The council had a local business support team that TOE could get in touch 
with. 
  

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



 7 

TOE asked for support from the council to help promote the scheme to businesses. 
 
Recommendation 
To Cabinet: 
The committee agreed that the council should look into TOE and support them subject to 
officer recommendations on partnership working with TOE. 
 
 

105 Task and finish group update  
 
Chair was leading a task and finish group from scrutiny committee, on the lack of local 
retrofitting skills to fulfil the work needed for green home grants funding. This funding has 
since expired but will likely be replaced with another scheme. 
Retrofitting was a complicated process. 
This group was gathering evidence and information. The group was hoping to go back to 
scrutiny with a report and then to the Oxfordshire Growth Board. CEEAC will be informed 
for interest. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 6.10 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman Date 

 

 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 

1 
 

  

South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse 

Policy for Planting Trees on Council Land 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

 

 

 
Cllr Ian Snowdon 
Tree Champion 
South Oxfordshire District Council 

 

 
Cllr Peter Dragonetti 

Tree Champion 
South Oxfordshire District Council 

Foreword - South Oxfordshire 

One element of our role as the Tree Champions for South Oxfordshire is to 

develop and promote a policy for planting trees on council owned land, which 

we are proud to be able to now share with you. 

Through this policy, we set out the principles which will help to achieve our 

goals as tree champions: to protect and restore nature across South 

Oxfordshire, to encourage people to reconnect with nature, to promote 

tree-growing initiatives, and to tackle the climate and ecological 

emergencies. This policy also makes clear the process which will enable the 

planting of trees on council land. 

Trees play many important roles, including improving the health and wellbeing 

of our residents and communities, filtering the air we breathe, cooling the 

surrounding environment, absorbing and storing rainwater, and sequestering 

carbon, helping us to reach our carbon neutral targets.  Protecting, planting 

and managing trees, as guided by this policy, will help to deliver these 

outcomes for generations to come.  

As residents of South Oxfordshire, we are lucky to live in an area with good 

tree cover and green spaces, which this policy will help to protect and 

enhance.  As a council, we will continue to encourage our communities to 

reconnect with nature, and support them with their own tree planting initiatives.  

This policy provides guidance to residents on tree planting and how 

residents can work with the Council to facilitate community planting 

projects.   

This policy and the outcomes it will deliver will contribute to the council’s wider 

corporate plan priorities of protecting and restoring our natural world, and 

tackling the climate emergency. 

We look forward to working with our communities to further enhance and protect 

our trees and woodlands for generations to come. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 

3 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Cllr Catherine Webber 
Cabinet Member Climate Emergency and 

Environment 
Vale of White Horse District Council 

 

  

Foreword - Vale of White Horse 

Tackling the climate emergency is one of our main priorities as a council, 

and we want to do everything we can, both as a council and as district, to 

reduce our emissions.  

We are aiming to become a carbon neutral council by 2030, and for the Vale to 

be a carbon neutral district by 2045.  Our trees are vitally important for helping 

us to achieve these goals as they capture and store carbon and provide shade.  

Beyond the many environmental advantages of trees, they also have health and 

wellbeing benefits for our residents, contributing to our priority of building healthy 

communities.   

As cabinet member for climate emergency and the environment I am proud to 

present our tree policy.  

This policy outlines five guiding principles we will follow as we work to protect, 

plant and manage trees on our land and seek to expand our tree cover.  I am 

particularly keen on our ‘community’ principle which provides guidance to 

residents on planting trees and offers advice on getting involved in tree planting 

projects, as well as ensuring access to green space, as I want to do as much as 

possible to support communities across the district in taking their own 

climate action as we work together to tackle the climate emergency.   

I look forward to supporting this work and further developing and enjoying our 

trees and woodlands. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



 

4 
 

 

Introduction 
The purpose of this policy is to outline how South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse 

District Councils will protect, plant and manage trees on the land they own, and how the 

community will be supported with their tree planting initiatives.  The Councils will seek 

to increase tree cover and to protect trees on land they own as part of their plans to 

become carbon neutral. 

This policy is an overarching document, setting out principles for protecting, planting and 

managing trees on council land, and with partners and the community.  These principles will 

be used as a benchmark for future plans and policies developed by the Councils and will 

inform current projects that involve trees and woodland. 

This policy is an ever-evolving document as guidance and thinking develops on this topic. 

 

 

Tree Context 
The councils truly value the many 

roles that trees play in our districts 

including their significant role in capturing 

carbon, providing oxygen, reducing flood 

risk, contributing positively to the health 

and wellbeing of our residents, providing 

homes to many species and supporting 

biodiversity. Protecting and increasing 

tree cover will ensure that trees across 

our district continue to benefit our 

residents, our environment, and will 

reduce our carbon emissions by 

removing carbon from the atmosphere. 

  

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

5 
 

 

 

Policy Context  
Nationally, the government has recently committed to increase tree planting to 

30,000 hectares per year across the UK by 2025 and has recently published the 

England Trees Action Plan which sets out the actions it will take to support tree 

planting and to ensure the many benefits of trees are realised.  The South and Vale 

tree policy will help to achieve the UK’s tree target. 

This policy aligns with several existing county council and South and Vale plans and 

policies, as outlined below, and will support us in reaching our own carbon neutral 

targets. 

Oxfordshire County Council Tree Policy 

The county council’s Tree Policy considers the public amenities provided by trees 

and how to manage trees in conjunction with the safe passage of highways.  

Corporate Plan 

South Oxfordshire’s Corporate Plan includes themes to protect and restore our 

natural world, and action on climate emergency, with specific objectives addressing 

trees, which states that we will: 

 With partners, promote in depth mapping and surveying of ecosystems across 

the district, planning for restoration of the natural world and working 

closely with landowners and specialist agencies 

 Encourage the use of natural processes to combat risks arising from climate 

change, such as meadows and trees to reduce flooding 

 Call for the establishment of a Local Nature Partnership for Oxfordshire to 

promote an ambitious nature recovery programme, including tree and 

meadow planting, rewilding and providing habitats for wildlife including 

wildlife corridors 

The Vale of White Horse Corporate Plan prioritises tackling the climate emergency 

with objectives relating to trees which states that we will:  

 Develop a tree-planting strategy and work with partners to plant more 

trees across the district 

 Include in the council’s Open Space Strategy opportunities to increase 

biodiversity, increase tree cover, and consider carefully the use of our open 

spaces 

 Explore setting up a Habitat Bank to deliver biodiversity offsetting 

requirements and facilitate tree planting 

Local Plan 

The South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse local plans support the protection 

and enhancement of the natural environment, including on specific development 

sites.  The design guides (South and Vale) provide further guidance to developers 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987432/england-trees-action-plan.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-highway-management-policy/highwaytreeandvegetationpolicy-dec2019.pdf
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/11/VOWH-Corporate-Plan-2020-2024.pdf
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/02/SODC-LP2035-Publication-Feb-2021.pdf
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/vale-of-white-horse-district-council/planning-and-development/local-plan-and-planning-policies/local-plan-2031/
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/planning-and-development/urban-design/develop-your-planning-proposals/
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/vale-of-white-horse-district-council/planning-and-development/urban-design/building-and-development-design-our-design-guide/


 

6 
 

on how the councils expect tree planting to be integrated into new 

development sites.  Linked to this, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

encourages the protection of trees and woodlands and seeks to achieve net gains in 

biodiversity. It also provides clear guidance that developments that cause the loss or 

deterioration of ancient woodlands and ancient or veteran trees should be refused. 

Green Infrastructure Strategy 

The South and Vale Green Infrastructure Strategyi presents our visions and 

objectives for the future provision and management of green infrastructure, which 

includes woodland, green space and amenity open space, up to 2031.   

Tree Preservation Orders and Conservation Areas 

A Tree Preservation Order (TPO) (South and Vale) prevents land owners from 

cutting down, uprooting, topping, lopping and wilfully damaging or destroying a tree 

without the council’s written permission.   

Trees in a conservation area that are not covered by a TPO also receive protection.  

Those wishing to fell or work on a tree in a conservation area must gain our 

permission. 

Climate and Ecological Emergencies Declarations 

In February 2019, South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils both 

declared climate emergencies, and in February 2021 South Oxfordshire declared 

an ecological emergency.  These declarations highlight the importance of 

addressing these emergencies and that action is needed.   

South Oxfordshire’s targets are to become carbon neutral in its own operations 

by 2025 and to be a carbon neutral district by 2030.  The Vale aims to be carbon 

neutral in its own operations by 2030, with a 75 per cent reduction in carbon 

emissions by 2025, and aims to be a carbon neutral district by 2045, with a 75 

per cent reduction in carbon emissions by 2030.  Increasing tree cover and 

protecting trees will be vital for us to achieve these goals. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
mailto:https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=FolderView&ID=1421403146&CODE=3187906E1C19C2DBD31A7EACD8810ADF&NAME=Local%20Plan%202035%20Documents%20and%20Evidence%20Base&REF=SLP_EXAMLIB&REFERER_URL_IN=&SOVA_IN=SOUTH%23exactline
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/planning-and-development/wildlife-trees-and-landscape/trees/#:~:text=A%20tree%20preservation%20order%20prevents,request%20a%20tree%20preservation%20order.
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/vale-of-white-horse-district-council/planning-and-development/wildlife-trees-and-landscape/trees/request-a-tree-preservation-order/


 

7 
 

 

Principles 

We will aim to protect, plant and manage trees on land owned by South Oxfordshire 

and Vale of White Horse districts through the following principles: 

Planting: 

o Commit to planting more trees on our own land to further develop a robust 
treescape, where appropriate aiming to double tree cover in areas  

 
o Any trees that have been removed or have died on council owned land will aim to 

be replaced, and where possible more than one tree will be planted, ideally with 
a minimum of three trees  

Caring and maintenance: 

o Best practice, including sustainable methods, for planting, growing and caring for 
trees will be used to ensure a healthy tree population 

o Safety precautions and measures will continue to take place in line with the 
councils’ duty and legal responsibilities to maintain public safety   

Supporting Biodiversity: 

o Plant appropriate tree species for the planting environment, including 
considerations for endangered species, ensuring tree planting does not adversely 
affect other habitats  

o Manage woodlands and trees to maximise canopy cover and carbon storage 
where possible 

o Encourage biodiversity and habitats for wildlife in trees through maintenance and 
planting methods 

Planning and Development: 

o Develop new planning policies designed to increase the amount and quality of 
tree planting within new development proposals on council owned land, and work 
closely with developers to achieve this 

o Use powers to protect important trees, woodlands and hedgerows where they 
are under threat from damage or destruction arising from development, 
inappropriate management or other land use change 

Community: 

o Establish procedures to enable communities to plant and care for trees on 
council land where appropriate – see our guide to planting trees for community 
groups and the ‘how to get involved’ section below 

o Support the community and partners to protect and plant trees to increase tree 
cover in appropriate locations across the districts, including through tree planting 
initiatives 

o Promote funding opportunities and work to secure funding for planting trees 
through government and other funding sources as a council or in partnership 

Page 20

Agenda Item 6

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/Tree-Planting-Guidance-2020.pdf
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/Tree-Planting-Guidance-2020.pdf


 

8 
 

 

 

How to get involved 
If you would like to plant trees on council land, please follow the steps below: 

o First contact the council to establish whether the land identified for planting is 

owned by South Oxfordshire or Vale of White Horse District Councils.  Please 

email your enquiry to climateaction@southandvale.gov.uk 

o We will let you know if the site is within the councils’ ownership 

o If the identified land is owned by the council, please fill in this form to apply to 

plant trees on the land.   

o Specialist teams in the council alongside relevant cabinet members will then 

assess your application for site suitability and against the principles in this 

document and our tree planting guide to make a decision. 

o If the form is approved, you will be asked to sign a legal contract before 

proceeding with the tree planting.  This agreement requires you to take full 

responsibility for the newly planted trees for at least three years following 

planting to ensure that the planting becomes successful.  

o Please note that this process could take up to three months 

 

                                                           

Page 21

Agenda Item 6

mailto:climateaction@southandvale.gov.uk


1 
 

South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse  

Retrofitting Homes Task and Finish Group  

 

Recommended Ways Forward 
August 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Oxfordshire And Vale of the White Horse District Councils Joint Scrutiny Task 

and Finish Group 2021 

Chair: Cllr Sam Casey-Rerhaye (South Oxfordshire) 

Cllr David Grant (Vale of the White Horse) 

Cllr Sue Roberts (South Oxfordshire) 

Cllr Hayley Gascoigne (Vale of the White Horse) 

Cllr George Levy (South Oxfordshire District Council) 

  

Page 22

Agenda Item 7



2 
 

 

 

Forward 

 

Retrofitting homes for energy efficiency, so we can all cut carbon emissions, is not a new 

idea, but it has become increasingly evident that a strategic approach to this urgent and 

complex area of tackling climate breakdown is needed. From being a ‘niche’ idea 5 or so 

years ago it is now discussed nearly everywhere – look at this BBC report for example:-

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-58320578 . 

This Task and Finish Group formed out of frustration with the approach government are 

taking, shown in the failure of the Green Homes Grant to achieve even a tiny proportion of its 

objectives.  

This report summarises our approach to the issues, gives a precis of what we heard from the 

people and organisations who came to talk to us and offers recommendations and proposed 

projects for the two District Councils and the wider local area to consider implementing. We 

looked at three main areas: advice, funding and installation, and investigated the issues and 

barriers to all three. 

The members of the group would like to thank the people who came to give evidence and 

information to us. We gained a huge insight into many aspects of this industry and really 

appreciate the time given but also the commitment to helping us that all those invited 

showed. We would also like to thank the officers from South and Vale Councils who 

supported this group, helping in drafting the Terms of Reference and writing the initial 

Scoping Paper to start us off.   

 

  

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



3 
 

 

Contents 

INTRODUCTION 4 

TERMS OF REFERENCE AND METHODOLOGY 4 

CONTEXT 5 

KEY INSIGHTS AND ISSUES FROM THE EXPERTS WHO CAME TO GIVE INFORMATION AND 

EVIDENCE TO THE GROUP 6 

SUMMARY 9 

PROPOSED PROJECTS 10 

RECOMMENDATIONS 14 

ANNEX A 15 

ANNEX B 18 

 

  

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



4 
 

Introduction 
A large proportion of greenhouse gas emissions comes from heating and running homes 

across the world. For the UK to tackle the climate emergency, making our homes more 

energy efficient is crucial. Home energy consumption accounts for around 30% of total 

energy used and 20% of total carbon emissions in the UK.  In Oxfordshire around 25% of 

GHG emissions are residential. Improving the energy efficiency of homes will reduce carbon 

emissions and help us to achieve our carbon reduction goals for the districts by 2030.   

The Oxfordshire Energy Strategy of 2019 recommended that 4,000 deep retrofits need to 

take place each year in the County to halve emissions by 2030.  

There are other benefits to retrofitting homes which include improving the health and 

wellbeing of residents as a result of living in homes that are warmer and less damp in the 

winter, keeping houses cooler in summer when there are heatwaves, and financial savings 

from more efficient energy use, which is particularly relevant for the ‘fuel poor’. Fuel poverty 

is defined as a household that has above-average energy costs, and if paying those costs 

would push it below the poverty line as far as its remaining income is concerned. 

There are campaigns and community groups working on this issue: e.g. 

https://www.householdsdeclare.org/ which has a series of interventions they are asking 

government to consider to help retrofit and energy saving measures in homes. In 

Oxfordshire, there are the Community Action Groups, as well as umbrella groups such as 

the Low Carbon Hub and South Oxfordshire Sustainability. Oxford University’s 

Environmental Change Institute has also been deeply involved in the retrofit landscape. 

In 2020 the UK government announced a grant scheme, called the Green Homes Grant, 

which proposed to help people financially to have some energy-saving retrofitting work 

completed in their homes.  The grant was available for 6 months, from September 2020 to 

March 2021. 

In light of complaints about the difficulties encountered by both contractors and home-

owners in accessing this grant and having the work carried out, the South Oxfordshire 

Scrutiny Committee discussed setting up a Task and Finish group to look at the problems 

and issues around the grant, and to investigate barriers and challenges in retrofitting homes 

in the District in general.  The Committee were concerned that achieving the target of carbon 

neutrality in the District by 2030 would not be possible if the schemes set up to accelerate 

retrofitting did not work, acknowledging that although this was a national scheme, it had a 

direct effect on the District’s own targets and ultimately the well-being of its residents.  

After interest from the Vale of the White Horse District Council’s Scrutiny committee, the 

Task and Finish group became a group from the Joint Scrutiny committee of both councils. 

 

Terms of Reference and methodology 
Terms of Reference were agreed, and are attached as Annex A.  Methodology was agreed 

as a series of meetings with identified organisations and individuals who would be invited to 

give a short introduction to their work and its connection with retrofitting, and the committee 

members would then ask a series of questions, similar for each meeting.  

An initial Scoping Paper was written for the Group, attached as Annex B.  

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

https://www.householdsdeclare.org/


5 
 

The group heard from the following speakers, who had been identified as key partners on 

this work and would provide a well-rounded perspective on the different aspects of retrofit: 

o Richard Byard, OxLEP 

o Tim Lunel, Low Carbon Hub and Cosy Homes Oxfordshire 

o Russell Smith, Retrofit Works and Cosy Homes Oxfordshire 

o Roger Westall, Abingdon and Witney College 

o Paul Roberts, Aspire Oxfordshire 

o Phil Hodge, Federation of Master Builders 

o Professor Rajat Gupta, Oxford Brookes University 

 

Context  
Both South and Vale have carbon neutral targets for their districts, with South Oxfordshire 

aiming to be carbon neutral as a district by 2030 and the Vale of White Horse aiming to do 

this by 2045 with a 75% reduction by 2030.  In terms of carbon emissions, homes account 

for around a quarter of total carbon emissions in both districts and therefore retrofitting 

homes will be vital.   

Retrofit refers to a range of measures that can be made to improve the energy efficiency and 

temperature control of a building (which includes cooling and preventing over-heating in 

summer and heating effectively and efficiently in winter). Retrofit options include loft and wall 

insulation, low carbon heating systems for water and space, improved ventilation, energy-

efficient lighting and often renewable energy generation.  

Retrofitting homes is a priority for both councils, as identified in South and Vales’ Corporate 

Plans: 

o South Oxfordshire: under the theme of homes and infrastructure that meets local 

needs, there is a specific action on retrofit and fuel poverty: ‘support and 

encouragement for the retrofit of our existing housing stock for low-carbon 

performance and to eliminate fuel poverty’ 

o Vale of White Horse: in the tackling the Climate emergency theme, there is a project 

to ‘work with local partners and Government to encourage retrofitting houses with 

sustainable energy schemes; help residents to take advantage of schemes that come 

along to help with costs’ 

As stated in the introduction, the Oxfordshire Energy Strategy recommends that 4,000 deep 

retrofits need to take place each year to halve emissions by 2030.  The number 4000 comes 

from the Oxfordshire Low Carbon Economy Report of 2014: which called for 64,000 retrofits 

in total in the 16 years to 2030. Retrofits have not been occurring at scale, and now there are 

only 9 years left until 2030, not 16. This means to halve carbon emissions by 2030, 7100 

homes a year (2.5%) should be retrofitted. 

For South Oxfordshire, with its 60,000 homes, this would mean 1500 homes a year from 

2021 to 2030. South Oxfordshire’s goal is for a zero carbon by 2030, so this should be 

doubled to 3000 homes a year.  

Vale of White Horse has a similar number of homes to South Oxfordshire, but aims for a 

75% carbon emissions’ reduction by 2030. There the goal should be 2250 homes retrofitted 

per year, 2021 to 2030. 

This gives an idea of the scale of retrofit that needs to be completed across the Districts, 

in a short amount of time.   

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



6 
 

Supporting and encouraging retrofit across the districts and county is important, however 

there are several barriers that make retrofitting homes a challenge, which have been 

identified in research and have arisen from conversations with partners.  These include: 

o The absence of government policy and regulations for this work; 

o The cost of conducting this work for homeowners and landlords is high, and returns 

are often over a long period of time and do not accrue directly to landlords; 

o There is a gap in the skills and knowledge required and too few personnel to 

complete retrofit projects, including for project co-ordination, advice, and installation 

of energy efficiency measures; 

o A general lack of awareness of retrofit, both for homeowners, who therefore are 

not demanding this work, and by building companies who are not recommending 

energy efficiency measures for projects. 

o Concern from householders of the disruption caused by retrofitting 

o A ‘stop-start’ approach to grant funding from government, changes in feed-in-tariff 

rates, grant funding ending prematurely and large administrative burdens to both 

householder and industry to obtain grants and tariffs. 

While there are barriers to this work, there are also opportunities, especially locally: 

o There is a desire from partners to work together to develop this work; 

o Partners that are interested have the relevant skills, knowledge and networks to 

make this work successful;   

o This work could develop a local economy on green skills and retrofit, creating 

employment locally;   

o This is a priority for both councils and therefore there is support from councillors. 

o Fits with the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and OXLEP strategies for Oxfordshire in the 

next 30 years and Local Authority carbon targets. 

 

Key Insights and Issues from the experts who came to give 

information and evidence to the Group 
 

Skills in the ‘green’ sector  

OXLEP (Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership) leads the skills programme on behalf of 

Oxfordshire and Department for Education for skills activity in Oxfordshire. 

OXLEP has recently published a paper which looks at wider skills needs, especially post-

COVID-19.  Oxfordshire’s economy is based around academia and innovation and faces 

labour shortages for ‘lower value-added’ jobs. Current ‘green’ business activity in 

Oxfordshire is mainly in the Electric Vehicle sector.  

Developing new skills training can be held back by the skills’ indicator code that the 

Department for Education uses which is out of date, there are no specific ‘green’ sector 

codes. 

The system that supports skills’ training is not agile, demand needs to come from the 

commercial sector and be supported by funds to Further Education (FE) colleges, and one 

needs to show the other is in place to start something new - a chicken and egg situation - so 

a co-ordinated approach is needed. FE Colleges teach the traditional construction skills, and 

there are plans in Abingdon & Witney College to teach ‘green’ building skills, but there also 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



7 
 

needs to be a general focus on energy efficiency in the whole curriculum, for this to become 

‘normal’. Apprenticeships do most of their learning onsite, so construction 

employers/businesses need to be thinking like that too.  

OXLEP is working with Thames Valley Chamber of Commerce to create a local skills 

improvement plan which has been developed by business support with the FE sector. To 

ensure a green recovery, the development and training around green skills will be vital, and 

there is an opportunity to do this in the retrofit economy.  

However, it is not just a ‘green’ skills shortage but knowledge of how the work is executed. 

For example, fitting insulation can be a basic task, but how it works with the rest of the house 

to keep warmth in and keep the building ventilated can be specialist knowledge. A solution is 

for the role of a Whole House Retrofit Coordinator to be used to ensure the retrofit is 

successful with that particular house and similarly the expertise of a Domestic Energy 

Advisor/Assessor can also help.  

The Federation of Master Builders (FMB) knows that good quality work on retrofitting homes 

is crucial, but the Green Homes Grant just caused problems for the industry. Accreditation 

times were long and complex, and the Grant was withdrawn quickly. It could have done 

more harm than good.  

FMB are working with the Construction Leadership Council to enable an inclusive, consistent 

approach, with local authority partners, to: 

 Construct zero – encourage carbon zero building  

 Transport – zero emissions on transport vehicles; improve logistics of transport; 

improving software systems so there is less waste 

 Measuring carbon throughout the construction phase – how to design it out, using 

appropriate materials and construction methods  

Labour & economy 

Two big challenges identified by OXLEP and Aspire are on the supply side: are suppliers 

(construction partners) ready to scale to meet the demand?  Is there the workforce to 

support the scaling up of retrofit / green skills? Small businesses need business 

development and awareness of incentives. In a ‘tight’ labour market like Oxfordshire, where 

will the workers come from to do this?  

While Oxfordshire has had one of steepest rate of increases in unemployment in the country, 

numbers per se are relatively small. A previously tight labour market means that it is likely 

that the unemployed may quickly find new jobs. Neighbourhoods with higher rates of 

unemployment pre-pandemic have been hit the hardest. East Oxford, Abingdon, Banbury 

have been the worst affected.  The Construction Leadership Council says a ‘retrofit army’ is 

needed, and what this would look like in Oxfordshire has yet to be envisaged. 

Demand for retrofit 

Cosy Homes Oxfordshire (a project from Low Carbon Hub) explained that there is retrofit 

demand in Oxfordshire from homeowners. They are now working at capacity, although they 

are a small business, so their capacity is limited.  Cosy Homes provide a domestic energy 

report followed by access to a ‘retrofit co-ordinator’ to create a project plan to ensure the 

measures taken for energy efficiency in a home are done in the right order. Homeowners 

can see what needs to be done first, and can choose to take a piecemeal approach, knowing 

the order in which tasks should be completed and deciding whether to do some or all of the 

measures.  

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



8 
 

There is an opportunity here for small businesses. Many of the skills needed are general 

building skills but what is crucial is the co-ordination of the work which needs to be bespoke 

for each home.  

However, in reality, given the number of homes in Oxfordshire, and the target to retrofit 7100 

per year, demand is low. There is no clear understanding of finance and the investment. 

Payback can be long or may never be recouped, although simple insulation, a ‘part-retrofit’, 

usually pays back in a very short time.  

People can be apprehensive about having builders in their home. There are two approaches:  

help people stay elsewhere for the time the retrofit takes; or retrofit room by room (more 

disruptive but it allows people to stay in their own home). An option is to retrofit only the 

most-used part of the home – the main communal rooms for example. This could offer some 

financial savings to the householder and reduce carbon emissions. 

The drivers for retrofitting can be very different. Awareness of the climate emergency is high 

in Oxfordshire and elsewhere and is growing and many will respond for that reason; some 

like the gadgets in Smart Homes; and there is the fuel poverty driver too. There is a need to 

tap into the different drivers and segment need/demand and respond accordingly. 

There are good examples of whole area approaches such as Kirklees Warm Zone Project  – 

the Council worked with Scottish Power and did it all in one go, which made the supply chain 

easier and it was a success. Other local authorities have obtained government grant funding 

for retrofit projects such as the Isle of White: https://iow.gov.uk/news/Green-Island-Grant-

brings-500-000  and in York: Decision - Council Housing Energy Retrofit Programme 

(york.gov.uk). Other examples of Local Authorities work in this area are given at the end of 

Annex B, the Scoping Paper written for the Group. 

Professor Gupta informed us of the Local Energy Mapping for Urban Retrofit (LEMUR) 

project run by Oxford Brookes, which targets areas of high energy usage.  

The FMB said that Local Authorities could play some part in promoting good quality builders 

with the right retrofit skills and understanding, possibly having a kite mark scheme or some 

equivalent for construction businesses with the necessary retrofit understanding and skills, 

or businesses that have a retrofit capacity.  

Energy Demand and Supply 

Heat pumps and electric vehicles present a challenge for electricity grid supply. Retrofitting 

homes for energy efficiency reduces energy demand, but de-carbonising the fuel used for 

heating and hot water in the main means using electric heat pumps. Smart ways of ensuring 

that electricity demand is manageable across the country as demand increases is crucial. 

This could be helped by local production with homes fitted with photo-voltaic (PV) panels as 

part of the retrofit and batteries to store the energy for use at peak times.   

A project at Oxford Brookes, Project ERIC (Energy Resources for Integrated Communities), 

installed solar PV and smart batteries (internet enabled and controllable) in 82 households in 

Rose Hill in Oxford. This demonstrated how management of distributed storage can increase 

self-consumption of PV electricity and reduce peak grid load. It gave householders more 

control over energy use.   

Local Energy Oxfordshire, Project LEO, is run by a consortium including Scottish and 

Southern Energy Networks, the Universities, Low Carbon Hub and the local councils. It is 

trialling ways to build flexibility into the market so that energy supply and demand can be 

balanced locally.    

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

https://www.carbondescent.org.uk/themes/carbondescent/assets/files/Kirklees_FINAL_Report_2011_06_08_.pdf
https://iow.gov.uk/news/Green-Island-Grant-brings-500-000
https://iow.gov.uk/news/Green-Island-Grant-brings-500-000
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/(S(sdmbq4ajz323pvuq10j5xpzq))/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=6030
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/(S(sdmbq4ajz323pvuq10j5xpzq))/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=6030


9 
 

Partnership Working 

South Oxfordshire and Vale of the White Horse Councils have signed up to membership of 

Oxfordshire Greentech, which organises conferences, and arranges collaborations through 

its network of low-carbon businesses and public bodies. Greentech has a strong focus on 

low-carbon retrofit and new-build. 

Summary 
 

1. Crucially there is need for focused government policy and significant levels 

of funding to support retrofit work. Industry and householders need confidence 

in the longevity of any scheme or policy. Short term, badly-designed schemes 

such as the Green Homes Grant set this process back by creating confusion, 

bureaucratic hurdles, financial challenges and stress. 

2. Nationally, there is a lack of relevant skills, which is reflected locally, and 

therefore there is a need for upskilling and training to fill this gap, not only for 

green skills but also for management around this work. There are barriers to 

developing these skills and approaches in construction training: from the way the 

Department for Education designs skills qualifications, to the funding of FE 

colleges, and engagement of LEPS and industry bodies.  

3. The role of domestic energy advice and retrofit coordination is deemed vital.  

The co-ordinator role along with domestic energy advice oversees the energy-

efficiency work in the home. Each house will need a bespoke retrofit plan and the 

owner will need to be able to have a ‘ladder’ of options costed to decide what is 

best done and when. Cosy Homes Oxfordshire is currently offering this service 

There are commercial opportunities here.   

4. Communication/publicity is needed about retrofit to improve understanding of 

retrofit and its necessity amongst householders and the construction industry; 

and show how to think about ‘home improvements’ in terms of energy efficiency 

first and foremost.  The Council could help build confidence for this work as part 

of a partnership. 

5. Encouraging homeowners to retrofit their homes could increase the demand for 

retrofit, creating a local economy and demand for relevant skills and 

employment opportunities, which chime with a ‘green’ industry development 

across the Districts, the region and the UK. In Oxfordshire, paucity of workers 

due to low unemployment is a challenge, as well as the high cost of business 

premises for start-ups. 

6. This work must be commercially viable for builders, especially as so many are 

small or medium sized enterprises. 

7. Energy networks need to be able to cope with extra demand as people move 

from gas and oil heating to electric, as well as to electric vehicles. Oxford 

Brookes has carried out modelling on energy demand, and key partners are the 

electricity network companies when it comes to a local retrofit partnership. 

Mapping energy demand can also identify where there are high energy-usage 

neighbourhood areas to target. 

8. Organisations need to continue working together for a joined-up approach at 

county and national level. The Construction Leadership Council has already 

written a National Retrofit Strategy which a local agency can take and make local 

with relevant partners. 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



10 
 

 

Proposed Projects 
Based on the insights from speakers and research into retrofit and related topics, the table 

below lists several projects that could be implemented by either Councils alone or Councils 

along with other relevant organisations.  The table includes an influence column, indicating 

projects where the Councils can make the greatest impact, or where it might be more 

efficient and effective to conduct this work at county level. 

Project Detail Timing Influence 

County-wide publicity  
campaign on retrofit  

Provide a simple 
county-wide 
communications 
campaign around retrofit 
to residents – what it is, 
what they can do, how 
much it will cost, how it 
can link to 
renovation/improvement 
work already planned on 
their homes, how much 
it will save financially 
and in terms of carbon 
emissions.  
 
Signpost to other 
organisations helping in 
the community: 
Superhomes, Low 
Carbon Hub etc. 
 
Link to Climate and 
planning pages on 
SODC/VOWHDC 
website  
 
 

This could be a 
consistent part 
of 
communications 
messaging 

Strong – 
county and 
district level  

Funding and affordability 
 

Promote funding 
opportunities schemes 
and initiatives for 
improving home energy 
efficiency; and for 
training and upskilling, 
being clear about the 
costs and benefits.  
 
 

Ongoing 
promotion 
through 
newsletters and 
council comms  
 

Strong – 
county and 
district level 
 

Staff homes & working from 
home carbon emissions 
contribute to the District 
Councils’ emissions 
 

Explore ways to 
incentivise Council staff 
to retrofit their own 
homes: 
grants/loans/discounts, 
etc .  
 

Short-medium 
 

Medium – 
may depend 
on some 
external 
funding grants 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



11 
 

Project Detail Timing Influence 

Explore with other councils, 
social housing providers, 
and fuel poverty groups such 
as NEA, the overlap between 
fuel poverty and retrofit.  
 

Explore ways that those 
least likely to be able to 
fund retrofit themselves 
and/or rent their homes 
can benefit in energy 
efficiency and reduce 
carbon emissions, 
including ways to 
incentivise landlords to 
retrofit their properties 
 

Medium term 
 

Medium 
 

Investigate opportunities for 
the Council to fund loans and 
start commercial projects;  
explore ways in which a 
Councils’ retrofit advice and 
promotion unit can be set up 
and/or a commercial 
opportunity to offer energy 
assessor/retrofit co-
ordination service including 
grants/loan guidance etc for 
homeowners to use   

Are there opportunities 
for councils to invest in 
this with a reliable 
return, thereby 
encouraging retrofit?   
E.g. lobby for the 
Flexible Home 
Improvement Loan be 
expanded in its scope to 
all age groups. A unit in 
the Councils would be a 
visible indicator of the 
importance of retrofit. It 
could start small 
focusing on publicity 
and information, and 
grow as funding/policy 
allows. 
 

 
Short-medium 
term 

 
Strong 

Planning application advice 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Provide additional 
guidance: an 
information sheet or 
specialist officers to 
make comments on 
applications and also 
offer a fee-based advice 
service, on making 
energy efficiency 
improvements while 
building works are 
taking place (as in 
Wealden Council).  
 
Consider whether 
training planning officers 
in retrofit would be 
beneficial in promoting 
it. 
 

Seek advice 
from Planning 
Department on 
the feasibility of 
this 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Medium – the 
feedback will 
only be 
guidance  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



12 
 

Project Detail Timing Influence 

Create a database of 
recommended installers 
based on national 
accreditations for retrofit  

Create database of local 
renewables installers 
accredited with the 
Micro-Certification  
Scheme (MCS), 
windows companies 
with FENSA; insulation 
companies with 
appropriate certifications 
and memberships of 
trade bodies.  
 
 

Short-medium 
 

Strong 
 

Construction Leadership 
Council 

Investigate membership 
of this as a Planning 
Authority and how 
membership could help 
influence retrofit in 
Oxfordshire in general 
and Districts in 
particular. It is here that 
energy companies, 
energy hubs, Shelter, 
the National Federation 
of Builders and others 
are working together for 
a consistent approach. 
 
 

Immediate Strong 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



13 
 

Project Detail Timing Influence 

Training and green skills- 
influencing and promoting 
retrofit to business 

Provide Business 
Support events. 
 
Develop and support 
training in green skills, 
construction work and 
future energy systems 
for unskilled and skilled 
construction workers. 
This could include 
training for retrofit 
coordinators and 
domestic energy 
advisors; and training on 
managing this type of 
business. 
 
Influence/co-create a 
countywide 
policy/approach with key 
partners 
 
For training providers to 
take on this work, there 
needs to be demand 
from students and from 
employers.   
 

Medium 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Long term, 5-10 
years 

Strong 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Medium – 
need to work 
with OxLep, 
and colleges  
 
 
 
 
 
Medium – 
collective 
influence with 
key partners 
at county level 

Lobbying government Councillors, councils 
and relevant 
organisations to 
continue to lobby 
government to support 
long-term retrofit 
programmes, funding, 
and regulations for 
energy efficiency 
measures in buildings. 
 
Emphasise the damage 
done by short-term, 
bureaucratic, 
unsupported initiatives 
such as the Green 
Homes Grant. 
   
Lobby for funding/loans 
etc for landlords to 
retrofit homes to 
minimum standards or 
above 

Short Medium 

    

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



14 
 

Project Detail Timing Influence 

Councils look to bid for 
government funding 
especially for retrofit homes  

e.g. York, Kirklees; and 
expand mapping models 
to target where need is 
highest to bid for 
funding 

Short Strong 

Explore how the Councils, 
along with other partners, 
e.g. OXLEP, Construction 
leadership Council etc can 
monitor numbers of homes 
retrofitted per year to 
monitor for carbon targets 

e.g.  energy 
consumption data etc 
that could be used; 
could work with Oxford 
Brookes on this.  

Medium Medium 

 

 

Recommendations 
 

i. The issue should be a high priority for local planning authorities who are in a good 

position to shape and influence this. Reducing and de-carbonising the energy 

demand in homes is a key plank in achieving the net zero carbon targets of both 

councils.  

ii. Government support needs to be long term, reliable and as simple as possible, 

influenced by experts in the field and using local authorities and LEPs in partnership 

as trusted local leaders. 

iii. Both local authorities should work with OXLEP, Greentech, local business and 

professional organisations to establish an Oxfordshire retrofit partnership board, 

develop a local strategy, taking into account the Construction Leadership Council’s 

national strategy, and fit it with the larger vision of a ‘clean’ economy outlined in the 

Oxfordshire2050 vision, 

iv. Each council should look at small and large actions they can take on their own and 

as a partnership in the possible projects listed in the table in 6. above.  

v. There are commercial opportunities that can benefit the local economy and residents, 

and financial investment opportunities for Local Authorities to invest in their own 

community, and in so doing support some of the most vulnerable. Both Councils 

should investigate these opportunities, including the commercial and financial 

opportunities here for Councils.  

 

  

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



15 
 

Annex A 
 

South Oxfordshire and Vale of the White Horse District Council 

Joint Scrutiny Task and Finish Group 

Scoping Document and Terms of Reference 

Name of Task and Finish Group The Homes Retrofit Joint Scrutiny Group 

Members (Chair) Cllr Sam Casey-Rerhaye 
Cllr George Levy 
Cllr Sue Roberts 
Cllr Hayley Gascoigne  
Cllr David Grant 

Purpose and Scope of Task and Finish  
Specify exactly what the Scrutiny 
Review should achieve and refer 
where possible to VFM issues of 
service cost, service 
performance and/or customer 
satisfaction. 
 

The T&F group will investigate whether 
there is the skills and capacity within the 
two Districts’ areas to maximise the 
opportunity the government’s grants and 
other financing for retrofitting old housing 
stock for better energy performance.  This 
is in line with both the Councils’ net-carbon 
targets, the urgency of climate change as 
outlined in both Council’s Climate 
Emergency declarations and also to ensure 
warmer/more energy-efficient homes for 
those who need it for health and well-being. 
It is also in accordance with the two 
Councils’ Corporate Plans. 

Objectives and Indicators of Success 
What factors/outcomes will 
demonstrate that this Scrutiny 
Review has been a success. 
 

Objectives: develop an accurate and up to 
date picture (with data where possible) 
regarding: 

 clarify barriers to improvement and 
suggest possible solutions  

 link any recommendations to work 
for councils, Oxlep, education 
establishments, and government   

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



16 
 

Methodology/ Approach 
What types of enquiry will be 
used to gather evidence 
 

Meet with task and finish group members to 
discuss and finalise those to invite to speak 
to the group, and questions to ask 
 
Invite these to 2 or more as necessary 
separate meetings with the T&F group to 
answer questions and discuss ideas for 
solutions 
 
Final meeting to discuss and finalise reports  
 

Target body for 
Recommendations 
Cabinet, Council, Other/Partners 
 

All Councils in Oxfordshire, Oxlep, BEIS, 
Oxfordshire Growth Board 

Key dates 
Identify key meeting dates and 
any deadlines for reports or 
decisions 
 

Final report should be ready in late Sept 
2021 
Also needs to report to scheduled  
Joint Scrutiny meetings as close to this as 
possible 
CEEAC/CEAC meetings  

Risks 
Identify any weaknesses and 
barriers to success 
 

Not enough evidence available 
Too much information to crystallise into 
recommendations in short time frame 
Not able to identify right people to give 
evidence 
 

Witnesses/ Experts/ Site Visits 
Who, why and when 
 

Oxlep 
Abingdon and Witney College 
Chamber of Commerce for contacts in 
industry/professional body 
Cosy Homes/Low Carbon Hub 
Retrofit Works 
NEF (fund Better Housing Better Homes) 
Oxford Brookes University 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



17 
 

Publicity & Media 
Do we need to publicise the 
review to encourage community 
involvement? What sort of media 
coverage do we want? Fliers, 
leaflets, radio broadcast, press 
release, etc. 
 

Via Council comms social media channels 
request both professional and personal 
experiences 

Resources & Budget 
 specialist staff 
 external support 
 consultation 
 research 

 

Support for minutes, invitations and 
correspondence on this, Climate 
Emergency staff - finalising report  

Completed by: Cllr S Casey-Rerhaye 

Agreed by Joint Scrutiny on:  

 

 

  

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



18 
 

 

Annex B 
Joint Scrutiny Task and Finish Group 

South Oxfordshire District Council & Vale of the White Horse District Council 

 

Home-Retrofit Scoping Paper prepared for the Task and Finish Group 

 

1. Purpose of this Paper 

Both South and Vale’s Corporate Plans address the need to retrofit houses to reach their 

carbon neutral targets.  In the SODC Corporate Plan, under the theme of homes and 

infrastructure that meets local needs, there is a specific action on retrofit and fuel poverty: 

“Support and encouragement for the retrofit of our existing housing stock for low-carbon 

performance and to eliminate fuel poverty”.  Similarly for VOWH, in the tackling the Climate 

emergency theme, there is a project to ‘work with local partners and Government to 

encourage retrofitting houses with sustainable energy schemes; help residents to take 

advantage of schemes that come along to help with costs’. 

This paper provides background information on home retrofit, the current situation on retrofit 

and fuel poverty, and identifies options for developing a dedicated retrofit programme in the 

districts that will contribute to meeting the Councils’ carbon neutral targets. 

2. Background  

2.1 What is retrofit? 

Retrofit refers to a range of home improvement measures that can be made with the aim of 

ensuring that a property operates in as energy-efficient a manner as possible. Retrofit 

options include loft insultation, replacing gas boilers, improved ventilation, switching to 

efficient lighting or swapping to renewable energy sources 

Whole House Retrofit is a complete approach to making homes more energy-efficient, 

focusing on the fabric of the house first including the walls, roof, floors, windows and doors, 

to strategies for ventilation, heating efficiency and cooling in the summer months.  While 

individual measures for retrofit can be done, it is most effective and efficient to do a whole 

house retrofit. 

Private homeowners, private landlords and social housing landlords can all retrofit their 

properties.  

2.2 What is Fuel Poverty? 

Fuel poverty is where a household’s fuel costs are above average and if the household were 

to pay that amount, they would be below the poverty line.  There tend to be three factors that 

affect fuel poverty: low household income, poor energy efficiency of homes (leading to 

higher energy bills), and high energy prices.  Inability to pay for heating in the winter results 

in fuel poor households often being cold which has huge health implications, particularly on 

the cardio-vascular and respiratory systems, as well as affecting mental health, and 

contributes to health inequalities.  In 2017, fuel poverty in South Oxfordshire made up 7.7% 

of households and in the Vale of White Horse, 7.4% of houses were fuel poor. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



19 
 

Improving the energy efficiency of a home through retrofit will help mitigate fuel poverty by 

lowering bills and warming houses, as explained in 2.3. 

2.3  Why is retrofit important? 

Retrofitting homes is vital for addressing climate change and helping both councils to reach 

their carbon targets. Home energy consumption accounts for around 30% of total energy 

used and 20% of total carbon emissions in the UK.  In Oxfordshire around 25% of GHG 

emissions are residential. Improving the energy efficiency of homes will reduce carbon 

emissions and help us to achieve our carbon neutral goals for the district by 2030.  The 

Oxfordshire Energy Strategy recommends that 4,000 deep retrofits need to take place each 

year to halve emissions by 2030..  

There are other benefits to retrofitting homes which include improving the wellbeing of 

residents by living in homes that are warmer and drier in the winter, and financial savings 

from more efficient energy use, which is particularly poignant for those who are ‘fuel poor’. 

2.4  What are the barriers to retrofit? 

While retrofitting is a win-win option, as it improves energy efficiency and will reduce bills, 

there are several barriers to homeowners retrofitting.  These include: 

Awareness 
and 
knowledge of 
retrofit 

Not all homeowners are aware of the changes they can make to their 
homes to be more energy efficient, as well as the benefits this has to the 
environment and their savings.   
Also, the term ‘retrofit’ is not a term which many people understand.  
Clear communication about what it is and how to do it will be key. 

Costs Making changes to your home can be expensive and the payback 
periods are long.  Finding upfront cash can be difficult.  The government 
conducted a study to determine costs of retrofitting different types of 
homes, which can be found here, with costs ranging massively 
depending on the size of the property and the types of retrofit projects 
conducted.  Efficiency improvements are not thought to increase the 
value of a home, which does not incentive homeowners to invest in 
retrofit. 
There is funding available but it might not cover all the costs and many 
people are not aware of it.   

Skills There is a lack of tradespeople with the expertise and skills for 
conducting retrofit, especially as many different skills are required for 
retrofitting. This is a significant and recognised problem in Oxfordshire. 

Rented sector Around 20% of the UK’s homes are privately rented and about 50% of 
those homes are EPC rating Di.  According to the Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standard (MEES), all private rental properties must have an 
EPC rating of E or above.  Tenants can act on their rights to ensure the 
home they are renting meets the MEES. 
Tenants rely on their landlords to make home improvements and 
landlords tend to focus on repairs rather than major improvements or 
retrofit. Improvements are often made between occupancy periods and 
landlords can then increase rental rates to cover the building costs.  
While energy efficiency measures will benefit renters as they will have 
lower bills, this doesn’t have a direct impact for most landlords.   

Leaseholders Getting agreement from multiple homeowners and tenants in shared 
buildings is a complex process which acts as a deterrent to embarking 
on retrofit. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656866/BEIS_Update_of_Domestic_Cost_Assumptions_031017.pdf


20 
 

Policy There currently isn’t comprehensive government policy for retrofit or any 
enforcement mechanism. 

 

2.5 What is best practise for retrofit programmes? 

Local authorities and combined authorities are well placed to deliver retrofit schemes 

because of their ability to support key stakeholders and are often seen as a trusted partner 

by residents and businesses.  Working in partnership with stakeholders allows for sharing of 

best practice and resources, including funding. 

A ‘one-stop-shop’ is considered best practise for developing a retrofit scheme where 

homeowners and landlords can go to one service for their retrofitting needs.  This service 

includes raising awareness of retrofit options, undertaking assessments and designs for 

homes, arranging contractors, and offering financial advice.  A retrofit coordinator offers this 

role, which is the case with the Cosy Homes Oxfordshire initiative. 

Appendix A provides examples of retrofit programmes conducted by other councils.  There 

are different approaches depending on the target of the service, whether it is fuel poverty or 

whole house retrofit.  Schemes addressing fuel poverty tend to partner with advice services 

to support residents to improve the warmth of their homes.  For whole house retrofits, the 

role of the retrofit coordinator is vital for ensuring that the work is to standard and to help find 

qualified tradespeople. 

2.6  What certifications are needed for retrofit? 

Having trusted contractors and practitioners is vital for ensuring quality service that 

homeowners respect and recommend.  In terms of accreditation needed for energy 

efficiency measures under government supported initiatives, such as the Green Homes 

Grant, contractors must be certified to install the measures against the Public Available 

Specifications (PAS) Standards 2035 by a certification body that has been accredited by 

UKAS. For installing low-carbon heat measures, Microgeneration Certification Scheme 

(MCS) standards are needed.  Contractors must also be TrustMark certified to install Green 

Homes Grant projects.  The TrustMark quality standard is endorsed by Government for 

trades that operate in and around the home, and has recently expanded to include energy 

efficiency, repair maintenance and improvement and retrofit sectors.  

Retrofit Works, an approved provider for TrustMark and a partner organisation of the Cosy 

Homes Oxfordshire initiative, offers a membership for practitioners which provides training 

and knowledge of the UK’s retrofit industry.  Members are also given work opportunities.  

2.7  What national funding and support is available? 

There are several grants and schemes available for home retrofit and to support those that 

are fuel poor, however there is a lack of large-scale programmes specifically for retrofit.   

There is also a lack of forward thinking with many of these schemes (such as ECO) as they 

are not installing low carbon solutions but merely, for example, replacing old gas boilers with 

new ones. This creates uncertainty and frustration for both contractors and households, and 

does not consider the energy efficiency opportunities. The current schemes available are: 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



21 
 

Green Homes 
Grant 

One strand of the programme earmarked £1.5bn in vouchers of up 
to £5,000 to help homeowners upgrade their homes, and up to 
£10,000 available to some of the UK’s poorest families.  It ran 
from September 2020 and has recently been scrapped by the 
government, with no new applications being accepted after the 
end of March 2021. 
 
There have been serious issues with the administration of this 
fund and many are waiting for reimbursement for their retrofit 
projects, including contractors and some of whom are getting into 
debt as a result of the slow paybacks. 
 
The Government has said there will be £300million of funding 
directed toward helping people on low-incomes gain access to 
energy efficiency improvements through local authorities. 
 

Warm Home 
Discount Scheme 

This scheme offers a one-off discount of £140 on a homeowner’s 
electricity, or electricity and gas if it is the same supplier, if the 
homeowner receives the Guarantee Credit element of Pension 
Credit or is on a low income 

Winter Fuel 
Payment 

For those born before 5 October 1954 and either receive a state 
pension or get another social security benefit, they will receive 
between £100-£300 to help pay for heating bills.   

The Regulatory 
Reform Order 
2002 

The Regulatory Reform Order 2002 gave local authorities wider 
powers to introduce policies to assist individuals with renewals, 
repairs, and adaptations in their homes through discretionary 
grants or loans. The power includes awarding discretionary grants 
or loans in addition to statutory DFGs. 
One of the aims of this policy is to reduce fuel poverty and the 
effects of living in cold homes, including excess winter deaths and 
illness.  

The Essential 
Housing Repair 
Grant 

The Essential Housing Repair Grant are small grants available to 
improve the warmth, comfort, condition, safety or security of 
homes and can be used for energy measures, except when other 
grants are available.   

The Flexible 
Home 
Improvement Loan 

The Flexible Home Improvement Loan also offers is available to 
make the home safer, warmer, healthier or more comfortable for 
owner occupiers aged 60 or above, including the opportunity for 
renewable energy generation technology. 

Disabled Facilities 
Grant 

For those that are disabled and need to make changes to their 
home, they can apply for this grant to widen doors and install 
ramps; improve access to rooms and facilities; provide heating 
systems suitable for needs; and adapt heating and lighting 
controls to make them easier to use. 

Fuel Poverty 
Grants Scheme 

This is administered by National Energy Foundation (NEF) and 
provides grants of up to £1000 for essential energy saving repairs 
and improvements to homes with a specific focus upon energy 
efficiency and energy saving measures. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-the-green-homes-grant-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-the-green-homes-grant-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/the-warm-home-discount-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/the-warm-home-discount-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/winter-fuel-payment
https://www.gov.uk/winter-fuel-payment
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1860/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1860/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1860/contents/made
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/09/Housing-Assistance-Grants-and-Loans-Policy.pdf
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/09/Housing-Assistance-Grants-and-Loans-Policy.pdf
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/09/Housing-Assistance-Grants-and-Loans-Policy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/disabled-facilities-grants
https://www.gov.uk/disabled-facilities-grants
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/09/Housing-Assistance-Grants-and-Loans-Policy.pdf
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/09/Housing-Assistance-Grants-and-Loans-Policy.pdf


22 
 

Warm Homes 
Grant 

This is a discretionary grant that may be available to top up the 
Fuel Poverty Grant, and may be a total of up to £1000.  The grant 
is available to homeowners and private tenants who meet the 
eligibility requirements of the Fuel Poverty Grant, but where the 
costs of energy efficiency, energy saving measures or essential 
energy saving repairs exceeds the Fuel Poverty Grant maximum. 

Rural Community 
Energy Fund, 
Greater South 
East Energy Hub 

Greater South East Energy Hub is offering this fund which is a £10 
million programme for community renewable energy generation 
that benefits the community and environment.  It supports rural 
communities by implementing renewable energy that can 
generate income locally, helps to achieve the Government’s 
renewable energy and carbon reduction targets, and provides 
social and economic benefits to rural areas, such as through job 
creation and rural growth. 

 

In terms of support, the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy published a 

report in February 2021, Sustainable Warmth – Protecting Vulnerable Households in 

England, which outlines the Government’s plan to address fuel poverty.  This will include:  

- Further funds to retrofit social housing, including a £60 million investment and £150 

million invested into a Home Upgrade Grant 

- Expand the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 

- Investing £2 billion in the Green Homes Grant to improve energy efficiency of 

households 

- Extending the Warm Home Discount  

- Investing £10billion on energy efficiency measures through the Private Rented Sector 

- Improving energy efficiency standards through the Future Homes Standard and the 

Decent Homes Standard 

- The Government has identified eight strategic challenges that need to be addressed 

to tackle fuel poverty.   

Over the next few years it is likely there will be more funds to reduce fuel poverty and 

support retrofit projects. 

3. Retrofit progress in South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse 

3.1 EPC rating in South Oxfordshire 

In terms of home energy efficiency in South Oxfordshire, most dwellings have an Energy 
Performance Certificates (EPC) ratingii of D, and flats have an average EPC rating of C, 
which reflects the average rating for the UK, and can be seen in the table below.  From ONS 
data in 2019, new houses and flats in South Oxfordshire had a median EPC of B. 
 
South Oxfordshire EPC rating by type of dwelling Jan 2008 to December 2020 

* It should be noted that this is the rating of a property when it is sold, let or constructed, so 

does not reflect smaller home improvements which could include energy efficiency 

measures.   

 A B C D E F G Total 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/09/Housing-Assistance-Grants-and-Loans-Policy.pdf
https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2020/09/Housing-Assistance-Grants-and-Loans-Policy.pdf
https://www.energyhub.org.uk/rural-community-energy-fund/introduction/
https://www.energyhub.org.uk/rural-community-energy-fund/introduction/


23 
 

Bungalow 0.2% 2.3% 14.6% 48.3% 24.8% 8.0% 1.9% 9.5% 

 

Flat 0.1% 24.7% 38.0% 25.0% 8.3% 2.6% 0.8% 16.2% 

House 0.2% 13.0% 21.1% 39.6% 18.5% 6.2% 1.5% 72.6% 

Maisonette 0% 9.6% 39.2% 30.2% 14.1% 5.2% 1.7% 1.8% 

Total 0.1% 13.8% 23.5% 37.9% 17.4% 5.8% 1.4% 

 

 

In terms of rental properties, which make up less than 30% of households in the district, they 

have the following EPC ratings: 

Type of Tenure EPC Rating 

Socially rented flats  C 

Socially rented houses  C/D 

Privately rented flats  D 

Privately rented houses  D 

 

By law, all rented properties must have an EPC rating of at least E, which is met here.   

3.2 EPC rating in Vale of White Horse  

In Vale of White Horse, most dwellings have an EPC rating of D, with the average house 
EPC rating at D and the average EPC rating for flats was C.  ONS data found that from 
2019, new houses and flats had a median EPC rating of B. 
 
Vale of White Horse EPC rating by type of dwelling Jan 2008 to present 

* It should be noted that this is the rating of a property when it is sold, let or constructed, so 

does not reflect smaller home improvements which could include energy efficiency 

measures.   

 A B C D E F G Total 

Bungalow 0.1% 2.2% 20.1% 47.2% 22.1% 6.3% 1.9% 7.8% 

Flat 0.0% 34.6% 41.1% 17.0% 5.1% 1.4% 0.7% 17.8% 

House 0.2% 27.7% 20.8% 33.5% 13.0% 3.9% 0.9% 71.8% 

Maisonette 0.1% 16.0% 47.5% 24.1% 8.2% 3.1% 1.0% 2.6% 

Total 0.1% 26.6% 25.1% 31.4% 12.2% 3.7% 0.9% 

 

Vale’s homes that are rented make up 30% of all households and their average EPC rating 

are: 

Type of Tenure EPC Rating 

Socially rented flats  C 

Socially rented houses  C 

Privately rented flats  C 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



24 
 

Privately rented houses  D 

 

3.3 What is currently being done locally? 

Both districts aim to support and encourage retrofit programmes.  Across the county there 

are schemes that are supporting residents in both districts to complete retrofit work and 

address fuel poverty.  These schemes are Cosy Homes Oxfordshire and the National 

Energy Foundation’s (NEF) Better Housing, Better Health.   

Cosy Homes Oxfordshire, funded by the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial 

Strategy, is a pilot retrofit project that launched in 2019 to improve the energy efficiency and 

sustainability of homes in Oxfordshire.  They offer a ‘one-stop-shop’ on home eco-retrofitting 

where a Retrofit Coordinator first assesses a home and identifies appropriate energy 

efficient measures, creates a tailored whole house improvement plan and then the Retrofit 

Coordinator supports the contractors and installers throughout the improvement works by 

ensuring technical requirements and standards are met.  The initiative also links 

homeowners with trusted contractors, who have been assessed by the RetrofitWorks team, 

a partner organisation for the scheme.  The initiative has been very popular and they are 

currently experiencing a back-log for appointments.  The take-up has mostly been from 

those in the ‘able to pay market.’  The pilot is scheduled to finish in March 2021 and Cosy 

Homes Oxfordshire intends to continue its services. 

Additionally, Better Housing, Better Health, a NEF scheme, provides home energy checks 

and grants for energy efficiency improvements where someone’s health is being impacted by 

living in a cold or damp home in Oxfordshire.  This project aims to support those that are at 

risk of fuel poverty and the health effects of cold homes.  NEF also provides the councils’ 

fuel poverty grant scheme, as outlined in the table in section 2.6.  In the 2017-2019 financial 

years, 27 households in South Oxfordshire were awarded a total of £30,281 worth of fuel 

poverty grants for 19 heating improvements and 8 insultation improvements, and the Vale of 

White Horse was awarded fuel poverty grants of £19,738 to 24 households for 18 heating 

improvements and 4 insulation improvements.  

As of February 2021, Oxfordshire County Council received GHG LAD Phase 1b funding to 

support 150 low income / poor performing homes with energy retrofit measures with an 

average grant spend of £8,500.00 per home.  Plans are being developed as to how this will 

be implemented.  There are also plans to implement the GHG Phase 2, which supports fuel 

poor homes with retrofit projects.   

3.4 What is the local skills landscape for retrofit? 

There are around 20,000 construction jobs in Oxfordshire making up about 5% of 

employment.  There has been a recent growth in the construction sector, however they are 

seeing skills shortages.  Retrofit Works, who supports Cosy Homes Oxfordshire, have found 

through this scheme that there aren’t the skills to meet the demand for retrofit projects, not 

only for the wide range of construction skills needed for retrofit projects but also the business 

management skills to run a retrofit business.  In addition, many local contractors are 

unaware of the Green Homes Grant scheme, don’t have the demand from customers for 

retrofit projects, and therefore don’t have the qualifications needed to take part in it.  Several 

contractors didn’t think it was worth paying for a membership to be TrustMark qualified until 

they had the demand for retrofit projects.  While contractors felt they had the skills to conduct 

retrofit projects, they needed advice and direction on what to do to ensure energy efficiency 

measures were met, which tends to be the role of a retrofit coordinator.  Without policies that 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



25 
 

require contractors to conduct sustainable construction and a demand from homeowners for 

retrofit, there will continue to be a skills gap. 

OxLEP have various programmes in place to address meeting the needs of local employers 

and the skills shortages in Oxfordshire’s labour market.  This includes the Community 

Employment Plans to ensure local people have better access to employment and training 

opportunities in Oxfordshire, and Oxfordshire Apprenticeships which promotes awareness of 

apprenticeships and traineeships to young people, parents and employers.  There is 

potential to utilise apprenticeships and the Community Employment Plans to address 

technical skills shortages in the construction field. 

Recently, a new construction skills college has opened in Oxfordshire at Abingdon and 

Witney College with funding from the Local Growth Fund 3.  The curriculum will reflect 

Oxfordshire’s innovation in low-carbon technologies and support the UK’s goal to reach net-

zero carbon emissions by 2050.  They also plan to support 400 apprenticeship over the next 

five years. 

Oxford Brookes University also offers several construction related courses but they do not 

have a focus on sustainable methods.  There might be an opportunity to work with them to 

address construction skills gaps in the county. 

Nationally, the government has recently launched a Green Homes Grants skills training 

competition scheme which provides training in home energy retrofitting and low carbon heat 

insulation.  This will provide tradespeople with the required skills and qualifications to deliver 

projects under the Green Homes Grant Scheme. 

4. Key considerations 

To determine the target audiences of retrofit programmes, the types of households and 

dwellings need to be considered in terms of their financial ability to pay as well as the need 

to improve the energy efficiency of the household. 

Key household types are: 

- Socially rented houses 

- Socially rented flats 

- Privately rented houses 

- Privately rented flats 

- Leasehold arrangements (for both flat rentals and flat ownership) 

- Owner occupied houses  

- Owner occupied flats  

In terms of financing retrofits, for rental properties the landlord or housing association would 

be responsible for this.  Therefore, the landlord would have to be willing to forgo rent while 

they make improvements, as well as having the funding to do so, which could come from 

government schemes.  Also, the landlord won’t directly benefit from the warmer home or 

lower bills so conducting retrofit would be to achieve a desired EPC rating and for their 

reputation or environmental credentials.  For social landlords, they are likely to react to 

government policies to improve the energy efficiency of their property. 

Owner-occupied houses and flats, which make up 74% of households in South Oxfordshire 

and 70% of households in Vale of White Horse, will be divided into those that are able to pay 

and those that aren’t able to pay for retrofit projects.  Those that are able to pay might do so 

if they have knowledge of retrofit, want to improve the energy efficiency of their home, and 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-free-or-subsidised-training-under-the-green-homes-grant-skills-training-competition-scheme?utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_source=79813d32-c390-4d44-8d7b-1796e83dfcc1&utm_content=daily
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-free-or-subsidised-training-under-the-green-homes-grant-skills-training-competition-scheme?utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_source=79813d32-c390-4d44-8d7b-1796e83dfcc1&utm_content=daily


26 
 

the pay-back period doesn’t affect them financially.  For those that aren’t able to pay, they 

would likely take up grant offers if they are aware of them and know the benefits of retrofit.    

When considering the energy efficiency of a home, a better EPC rating will have a lower 

environmental impact and reduced energy bills.  Referring to the tables in section 3.1 and 

3.2, the EPC rating F and G make up just over 6% of all households in South Oxfordshire 

and just under 5% in Vale of White Horse.  These households could be a target group for 

retrofit projects as well as addressing fuel poverty.   

The councils may address these factors using different methods which will have varied 

inputs and impacts.  

5. Project Options 

Three options have been identified that could all form part of a retrofit programme to take 

forward each Districts’ Corporate Plan priorities to support and encourage the retrofit for 

existing housing stocks. 

5.1 Signposting and awareness raising 

One programme of work is a communications strategy to raise awareness of retrofit and 

information about what projects can be conducted, including costs, encouraging residents 

and landlords to implement retrofit solutions in their homes.  Information about funding and 

support available should also be promoted.  The communications would be shared on each 

councils’ webpages and social media, as well as in resident newsletters.  Case studies of 

what residents have done to their homes could be shared to make the information more 

relevant and tangible.   

Advantages:  

 This is a low-cost option as it would use resources that already exist 

 Would have substantial impact in terms of reducing carbon emissions if there is take-

up 

Disadvantages:  

 There could be reputational damage to the Councils by promoting ineffectual 

government schemes or schemes where the district does not have the labour to 

support implementation 

 Without targeting it could result in limiting take up to the able to pay market. 

 

5.2 Retrofit Service 

 

A second option is to provide a retrofit service.  There are different ways that this service 

could be set up, including engaging with the existing Cosy Homes Oxfordshire service as 

well as the wider county.  Three options are outlined below: 

(i) Setting up a new Council run retrofit service 

This would involve each district designing their own retrofit service, based on best practice, 

and developing an officer or team to manage the programme. Funding would be needed to 

support this.  The two councils could partner on this or each Council could develop their own 

service. 

Advantages: 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



27 
 

 Ensures close alignment to Council priorities and Corporate Plan 

 Easier to make changes based on learning 

 Can target certain groups, such as those in fuel poverty or households with low EPC 

ratings 

Disadvantages: 

 Significant inception costs 

 Time involved in setting up a new unit and recruiting and training staff 

 There may not be the labour to support this work locally 

 There may not be the demand locally to support this programme 

 

(ii) Sub-contracting an existing retrofit provider to deliver a bespoke service in the 

district 

A specific contract could be developed for a bespoke retrofit service either for each district 

separately or both districts together, and could be provided by an already existing retrofit 

service, such as Cosy Homes Oxfordshire.  The contract would include setting targets for 

certain groups, such as those with high carbon emissions or living in fuel poverty.  

Advantages: 

 Targeting households with high carbon emissions and in fuel poverty will help 

each district reach their carbon emission goals 

 Utilising an existing service will require less input from either council and it is low 

maintenance to manage the contract 

 Partnering on the contract, or engaging with other councils on the service, might 

strengthen the overall service provided by ensuring best practice and economies 

of scale 

Disadvantages: 

 A bespoke service is likely to be expensive to set up  

 There may not be the demand or labour in the district to cover the costs of this 

programme 

 

(iii) Provide additional funding to an existing retrofit provider to continue their service, 

with targets of specified number of home retrofit projects in the districts.  This 

could be done by the councils individually or together. 

An existing retrofit provider, such as Cosy Homes Oxfordshire, could be funded to improve 

the energy efficiency of a certain number of homes each district, while continuing their work 

across the county. 

Advantages: 

 Targeting households with high carbon emissions will help each council to reach 

their carbon emission goals 

 Utilising an existing service will require less input from the council and low 

maintenance to manage the contract 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



28 
 

 Cosy Homes Oxfordshire could also provide this service to surrounding councils, 

each having their own appropriate targets and benefitting from economies of 

scale (including a wider pool of labour and resources) 

Disadvantages: 

 There may not be the demand or labour in either district to cover the costs of this 

programme 

 Contracting a service reduces the Councils’ control  

 

5.3 Retrofit Skills Partnership 

A third option is to set up a partnership to address skills gaps for retrofit as it is vital that our 

workforce is skilled to meet home energy efficiency needs, helping us to achieve our carbon 

neutral targets.  It is important that the construction workforce meet quality and trademark 

standards for retrofit, that contractors have the right skills, local training meets the skills 

need, and that qualified tradespeople are hired locally.  Having more skilled labour for retrofit 

projects could also help to reduce the backlog of appointments with Cosy Homes.   

It is recommended to set up a partnership that would address this by working with the 

colleges to offer the right training, with local contractors to ensure there are jobs for newly 

qualified tradespeople, and with landlords and constructions companies so that local 

contractors are hired for their retrofitting services.  This would also be a great opportunity to 

address equality and diversity issues in this sector, and to encourage females to train in this 

field.  The Abingdon and Witney College have recently opened a construction school that 

could support this.  It is recommended that the Partnership is at county level to achieve 

economies of scale and could be part of the environment sub-group of the Growth Board.  

To ensure this partnership covers all angles of the skills needs, it is recommended that 

partners would include: 

 OXLEP – who support employment and skills programmes 

 Colleges – especially the Abingdon and Witney College with their construction 

school 

 Oxford Brookes University – they have several construction and real estate 

courses which could be tailored to teach sustainable construction methods 

and retrofit 

 District / county / city councils – to provide support and coordination 

 Social housing landlords – who can provide their perspective, opportunities 

and barriers to retrofit 

 Landlords association – providing insights as landlords 

 Private Housing Grants officer – to provide support and perspectives on 

private housing 

 Construction representative(s) – who can provide insight into the construction 

industry, and the barriers and opportunities they face in terms of retrofit 

 Cosy Homes Oxfordshire – an existing retrofit scheme who are well 

connected in the county 

 Aspire Oxford – this is an employment charity helping those that are 

homeless, disadvantaged or facing poverty to find work and housing.  They 

support their clients with employability skills training. 

Advantages: 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



29 
 

 A whole county partnership approach would result in more joined-up work and 

pooling of larger resources 

 Economies of scale 

 Creating a programme that will support retrofit in the future, while also 

providing jobs 

Disadvantages: 

 South Oxfordshire would not have complete ownership of this project as they 

will be working in partnership 

6. Conclusion 

To conclude, at a minimum, communications need to be shared on retrofit to raise 

awareness and encourage residents to retrofit their homes.  Providing a retrofit service will 

be needed to support residents to improve the energy efficiency of their homes, but ensuring 

the right skills are available will be needed for this service to work.  A longer-term retrofit 

skills partnership will be important to ensure the labour market is equipped to conduct retrofit 

work.  

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Retrofit Examples 

Cornwall Council 

In July 2020, Cornwall Council secured £4.2million from the Department for Business, 

Energy and Industrial Strategy’s Energy Innovation Programme for a Whole House Retrofit 

project.  They are working with SSE to improve 83 homes managed by Cornwall Housing 

and aim to be a cost-effective model for improving energy efficiency while also cutting 

energy bills and reducing fuel poverty.    

 

Devon County Council 

Devon County Council is supporting Cosy Devon which is a scheme for households 

operated by local authorities and community organisations across Devon and Torbay to save 

them energy.  Through the Local Energy Advice Partnership (LEAP), they offer free energy 

and money saving advice, targeting households that are in or at risk of falling into fuel 

poverty. 

 

East Sussex 

The Warmer Sussex programme, launched in October 2019 with RetrofitWorks, is a not-for-

profit which supports local people to make their homes more energy efficient.  They provide 

a Retrofit Coordinator to all projects who can create a Whole House Plan for the retrofit 

project, advise on energy efficiency measures and provide options for local trusted 

tradespeople to do the work.  Throughout the process the Retrofit Coordinator 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7



30 
 

communicates regularly and once the building work is complete, they check that the work 

meets the required standards. 

 

Ecofurb, London and South Cambridgeshire 

This service provides a whole house approach to improving the energy efficiency of a home.  

Ecofurb offers a free Plan Builder which provides options for retrofitting and renovations, 

producing a plan for the work.  A Home Survey and Ecofurb plan are then completed by the 

Ecofurb coordinator which highlights the changes to your home’s performance that could be 

achieved and a phased plan for doing so.  The Ecofurb coordinator can also get quotes for 

the work from trusted contractors, and oversee the work to ensure it meets the required 

standards. 

 

Keep Warm and Well, East Sussex 

This programme, provided by RetrofitWorks and Citizens Advice, offers advice and support 

to keep people warm at home for less, protecting residents from the effects of living in a cold 

home.  The programme provides advice on funding for keeping your home warm, identifies 

ways to keep the home warm, conducts small works to improve the warmth of a home, and 

provide access to housing insulation and heating. They also work with partners by offering 

them training to identify people who might be vulnerable and living in a cold home, and 

signposting to Keep Warm and Well for support. 

 

i https://www.greenfinanceinstitute.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Financing-energy-efficient-buildings-
the-path-to-retrofit-at-scale.pdf  
ii For a breakdown of EPC ratings, visit: https://www.edfenergy.com/energy-efficiency/how-improve-your-epc-
rating  

                                                           

Page 51

Agenda Item 7

https://www.greenfinanceinstitute.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Financing-energy-efficient-buildings-the-path-to-retrofit-at-scale.pdf
https://www.greenfinanceinstitute.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Financing-energy-efficient-buildings-the-path-to-retrofit-at-scale.pdf
https://www.edfenergy.com/energy-efficiency/how-improve-your-epc-rating
https://www.edfenergy.com/energy-efficiency/how-improve-your-epc-rating


Pathways to a zero 
carbon Oxfordshire

June 2021

Pathways to a zero 
carbon Oxfordshire

2021

eci

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 9



2

Summary

Tackling climate change has become an urgent priority 
for governments, businesses and citizens around the 
world. In 2019, the UK Parliament passed legislation 
committing to a target of net-zero carbon emissions 
by 2050. In response, local authorities around the 
country have been scaling up their ambitions to tackle 
climate change. In Oxfordshire, all local authorities 
have acknowledged and responded to the climate 
emergency, and are developing plans to achieve net-
zero carbon emissions by 2050 or sooner.

Oxfordshire has made rapid progress in reducing carbon emissions 
over the last decade, and is on track to achieve the target agreed by 
its local authorities of a 50% reduction by 2030 (from 2008 levels). 
While its GDP grew by 34% between 2011 and 2018, its usage of 
energy remained roughly constant, and CO2 emissions fell by 17%. 

This report addresses the question of how Oxfordshire can sustain 
the momentum of the last decade to achieve net-zero emissions. 
While substantial progress has been made to decouple economic 
growth from carbon emissions, driven by cleaner electricity supply 
and increased energy efficiency, there remains a significant way 
to go to decarbonise transport, reduce reliance on fossil fuels for 
heating, and protect and enhance carbon stored in the natural 
environment. Maintaining the same rate of emissions reduction 
in Oxfordshire will require relatively greater investment locally, 
in building retrofit, cleaner heating systems and electric vehicles; 
and cultural and behavioural changes such as active travel, dietary 
changes and reduced energy demand. 

Our analysis shows that there are different routes to net-zero, and 
in presenting scenarios for the next three decades, we outline three 
distinct pathways to eradicating emissions from the economy.

Technological 
Transformation

Steady
Progression

Societal
Transformation

Oxfordshire
Leading the Way

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 9



3

Our Steady Progression scenario falls well short of stated 
climate aims, and illustrates the scale of change needed to 
achieve net-zero. Societal Transformation is led from the 
bottom up, with householders adopting new technologies and 
practices, and community groups corralling action. Technological 
Transformation, by contrast, relies on systemic changes driven at 
the national level, including the deployment of hydrogen for heating 
and other technical solutions which require the least change to 
individual behaviour. Finally, Oxfordshire Leading the Way mirrors 
the widespread cultural and behavioural changes seen in Societal 
Transformation, and combines this with high deployment of new 
local electricity generation using solar photovoltaics.

Which pathway Oxfordshire will take depends on a variety of 
factors, including technological innovation, macro-economic 
trends following COVID-19, public support, changing social norms 
and behaviours, and policy decisions taken at the local, national 
and international levels. While some factors are outside of local 
control, businesses, policy makers and residents in Oxfordshire 
have a crucial role to play in innovating, investing, strategising and 
implementing the changes needed for net-zero.

The second half of the report analyses the implications of net-zero 
for different sectors of the economy, as follows:

Low carbon innovation: Oxfordshire’s low-carbon sector is thriving. 
Two of four national energy systems demonstrator projects are 
based in Oxfordshire, and its automotive sector continues to lead 
the way on innovation for autonomous vehicles, electric powertrain 
development and battery technologies. The University of Oxford 
has successfully generated 30 new cleantech spinout companies 
alone, with many more establishing a presence within the county 
and pioneering new technologies to address the challenges created 
by the climate emergency. The low-carbon sector is also thriving 
alongside high-tech industries, as community groups and SMEs 
develop solutions to reduce carbon emissions through alternative 
business models and the sharing economy. 

Transport: Like the UK as a whole, Oxfordshire has struggled 
to reduce emissions from transport, despite successes such as 
accelerated uptake of electric vehicles in the county and increased 
cycling in Oxford City. There remains significant potential for more 
widespread walking and cycling, as the transition to net-zero cannot 
rely on electric vehicles alone. The key components of pathways 
to decarbonise transport are ‘Avoid, Shift, Improve’. Switching 
to electric is an example of ‘Improve’, while telecommuting can 
be a way to ‘Avoid’ travel. A ‘shift’ to local, active travel can help 
increase footfall on local high streets and ease congestion as 
well as improving health. There is an urgent need for improved 
infrastructure for public transport and active travel; controlling and 
charging for parking; supporting digital connectivity that reduces 
the need to travel; requiring new developments to be compact and 
walkable; and encouraging the uptake of zero emissions vehicles.

Figure 1: Relative change in 
GDP, number of dwellings, 
CO2 emissions and energy 

demand (2011=1)

Energy demand +1%

50% CO2 by 2030 –17%
CO2 –17%

GDP +34%

Dwellings +8%

20182017201620152014201320122011

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 9



4

Energy efficiency and heating in buildings: All pathways to 
net-zero require profound and widespread changes to the built 
environment. This includes upgrading the energy efficiency 
performance of the majority of buildings across Oxfordshire, 
and replacing heating systems which rely on fossil fuels (gas 
and oil), with low and zero carbon technologies (heat pumps, 
biomass, hydrogen). The markets for goods and services to create 
and maintain low-carbon buildings are small and immature. A 
much stronger focus on market creation and development is 
needed if existing technologies are to be deployed at the scale 
and quality required. Not only does this imply a need for a skilled 
workforce of installers, advisors and other intermediaries, but also 
regulated minimum standards to create demand, supported by 
a much more rigorous system of compliance-checking. There is 
a need to simultaneously stimulate demand and supply for high 
quality products and services to reduce emissions from the built 
environment. 

Low Carbon Energy: Solar energy is Oxfordshire’s greatest low 
carbon energy generation resource with the county already 
contributing more than 3% of the total UK solar photovoltaic 
capacity, more than double its share of population and land area. 
There is significant potential to expand local solar PV electricity 
generation. Each of our net-zero pathways includes substantial 
deployment: the most ambitious sees installed capacity expanded 
by up to 10 times. Increasing local renewable electricity generation 
is needed in response to an expected doubling of electricity demand 
due to the electrification of heating, transportation and high 
population growth, ensuring Oxfordshire takes a leading role in the 
decarbonisation of the electricity sector nationally. To maximise 
local benefits, Oxfordshire should develop local energy partnerships 
and the proven appetite for community energy. P
age 55

A
genda Item

 9



5

As with all intermittent decentralised generation, high penetration 
can have significant impact on local networks with flexibility and 
data key to maximising system utilisation at the lowest cost to 
users. Oxfordshire is in the enviable position of hosting two national 
demonstrator projects (Project LEO and ESO) and a wealth of 
knowledge in this area which it must exploit. 

Land use and carbon sequestration: Oxfordshire is dominated by 
intensive agriculture, with farmland occupying 70% of the county. 
With 14% being built-up, there is only 9% woodland and 7% other 
semi-natural habitats. We estimate that currently around 316,000 
tonnes of CO2 are sequestered each year (after accounting for at 
least 100,000 t lost annually when land is cleared for development); 
a small fraction of the 4 Mt produced through use of fossil fuels. 
However, around 85 Mt CO2 are stored in the county’s soils and 
vegetation and it is vital to protect and enhance this carbon store 
well as restoring soils, woodland and other ecosystems to enhance 
sequestration further. 

Land is a finite and precious resource, and our scenarios reveal 
trade-offs between demand for land for food, bioenergy, solar, 
housing, carbon sequestration and biodiversity. For example, it 
would take 37–56% of Oxfordshire’s land to produce the quantity 
of bioenergy envisaged in the National Grid scenarios in order to 
provide the ‘negative emissions’ (via BECCS, i.e. bioenergy with 
carbon capture and storage) needed to reach net-zero. Stringent 
energy demand reduction can reduce the need for such negative 
emission options. Shifting to a lower meat diet also has a vital role 
to play in freeing up farmland for sequestration. 

Smart land-use planning with the participation of all stakeholders 
is essential in order to minimise trade-offs and maximise the 
substantial co-benefits that could be achieved through well-
designed nature-based solutions, including a mix of ecosystem 
restoration and regenerative agriculture that enhances soil carbon 
storage, as well as integrating high quality green infrastructure into 
new developments. The proposed new Local Nature Partnership 
will have a critical role in developing a Natural Capital Plan for 
Oxfordshire that meets targets for both net-zero and Nature 
Recovery, as well as securing livelihoods for farmers and health and 
wellbeing co-benefits for local communities. 

Conclusions and recommendations

All net-zero pathways will involve: 

	■ the expansion of solar generating capacity in Oxfordshire

	■ a major programme of retrofit for existing homes and non-
domestic buildings

	■ prioritising climate goals when planning for new homes and 
developments

	■ substantial increases in electricity demand, driven by heat and 
transport, requiring grid reinforcement and flexibility provided by 
various means

	■ the phase out of gas boilers and fossil-fuelled modes of transport

	■ a need for innovation in food production to maintain or increase 
output while agricultural land makes way for development, and 
Oxfordshire grows its fair share of biofuels.

	■ protection and restoration of ecosystems and natural capital, for 
enhanced sequestration and increased biodiversity.

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 9



6

Net-zero targets: While each local authority in Oxfordshire has set 
an aspirational date for area-wide net-zero emissions, some have 
chosen 2050 (County Council, West Oxfordshire DC), Vale of White 
Horse DC is aiming for 2045, Oxford City council for 2040 and others 
2030 (Cherwell DC, South Oxfordshire DC). These differences partly 
reflect local circumstances, such as differences between urban and 
rural districts, but they have substantial implications for policy, 
investment and local action. 

Although ambitious targets can be vital for driving policy change 
and investment, our models suggest that achieving the earlier 
targets will be extremely challenging, especially without significant 
devolution of additional powers to local authorities. However, there 
are additional ways to demonstrate leadership on climate change as 
well as target setting, such as in using planning powers to develop 
policies that align with net-zero carbon developments by applying 
15-minute neighbourhood principles, implementing active travel 
infrastructure, and including ecosystem restoration.

“ We should plant 
trees to offset our 
emissions”

… we need to protect 
existing trees, but 
planting new trees 
can remove only 
a small fraction of 
current emissions, 
and we need to 
restore a mix of native 
ecosystems to reverse 
biodiversity loss.

“ We need a more 
skilled & qualified 
workforce”

… the skills challenge 
is not just a supply 
problem, we also 
need demand for 
skills, driven by 
markets for zero-
carbon solutions.

“ Electric vehicles 
are coming to  
save us”

… switching to 
cleaner fuels is 
insufficient for net-
zero. We also need to 
reduce our transport 
demand and 
complete more of our 
journeys by walking, 
cycling, public and 
shared transport.

0
“ Net-zero can be 

achieved by 2030”

… without relying 
on offsets, the scale 
of investment, 
technological and 
lifestyle change, 
without national 
policy support, is 
unrealistic.

“ Fossil fuels are 
needed for  
economic growth”

… renewable 
energy and other 
zero-carbon 
solutions represent 
opportunities for 
more efficient use 
of resources. Unlike 
spending on fossil 
fuels, investment can 
be kept local.

“ It all comes down 
to individual 
behaviours”

… while lifestyle 
change and 
sustainable choices 
will be crucial, these 
are influenced by 
infrastructures, 
systems of provision 
and social norms. 
Reshaping these 
requires action from 
myriad actors

Shattering myths

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 9



7

Co-benefits: If the phase-out of carbon emissions is managed 
effectively, a variety of economic, social and environmental 
benefits can be achieved. These include the creation of high-
skilled, well paid jobs in the zero carbon sector; creating cohesive 
and desirable places to live by empowering local communities 
and diverse individuals to drive action; and cutting air pollution. 
Restoring habitats, providing urban green infrastructure and shifting 
to regenerative agriculture can support wildlife while delivering 
ecosystem services such as natural flood management and urban 
cooling, and providing health and wellbeing benefits for local 
people. 

COVID-19 recovery: More than 1000 people in Oxfordshire have 
lost their lives to COVID-19, and the pandemic has had a severely 
detrimental impact on nearly all residents and businesses in 
Oxfordshire. In the short term, energy demand and carbon 
emissions have fallen sharply. As the economy gets back on its feet, 
it is imperative that the sustainable practices adopted by businesses 
and individuals, such as telecommuting and active travel, are 
supported and sustained.

Embodied carbon: This report focuses on direct emissions (Scope 
1) and those associated with purchased energy (Scope 2). However, 
there are emissions ‘embodied’ in the goods and services imported 
into the county, including the materials used for constructing 
new housing, the batteries used in electric vehicles, and food and 
biofuels that must be produced elsewhere when land in the county 
is used for carbon-reducing activities such as planting trees. In 
the next decade, the priority must be on reducing Scope 1 and 
2 emissions. However, as the emissions associated with energy 
and transport usage reduce over time, the relative proportion of 
embodied emissions will grow. 

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 9



8

Climate change will need to be increasingly factored into 
procurement decisions and supply chain governance, whether 
those are major investments in construction materials for new 
homes, or everyday purchases such as food. A shift towards a 
circular economy based on reducing waste and unnecessary 
consumption will play a large part in reducing the embodied 
emissions imported in material goods.

Infrastructure: The forthcoming update to the Oxfordshire 
Infrastructure Strategy is due to include climate related indicators 
when evaluating the need for strategic infrastructure. While it 
goes without saying that all investments in local infrastructure 
should be compatible with net-zero, there is also a need to 
systematically review the role of existing infrastructure in ‘locking 
in’ high carbon practices, and plan for change. More granular data 
on demand patterns will help enable the more efficient use of 
existing infrastructure. There is a need to expand the definition 
of infrastructure to include Oxfordshire’s building stock, and 
to rank retrofit as a strategic priority alongside electricity grid 
reinforcement and the installation of new solar generation. Green 
infrastructure should also be integrated into the strategy, as it 
has potential to deliver multiple benefits for climate, health and 
biodiversity.

Financing the transition: Local authorities have experienced 
significant funding cuts in the last decade, and COVID-19 has led 
to further financial woes. While there is uncertainty over the future 
of core funding for programmes to drive down emissions, there 
are other options for raising investment in zero-carbon solutions. 
These include expanding the Low Carbon Hub’s model for raising 
community investment; following West Berkshire Council’s example 
of launching a Green Bond, and developing projects for investment 
by the Oxfordshire Local Government Pension Fund.

Partnership working: Stakeholders in the low carbon sector have 
a strong record of collaborating to attract investment and drive 
forward innovation. There is potential to expand networks such as 
Oxfordshire Greentech, Community Action Group network and Low 
Carbon Hub CIC. The Oxfordshire Growth Board recently proposed 
the creation of a new environment advisory group which was 
supported by all local authority leaders. If properly resourced, this 
could drive forward the agenda set out in the Oxfordshire Energy 
Strategy, and begin to develop an action plan to meet climate 
goals. It is hoped that the evidence and modelling in this report 
will directly inform this advisory group, as well as the work of the 
proposed Local Nature Partnership.

 

Photo: Brendan Doody

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 9



9

 
Authors
Sam Hampton, Lewis Knight, Hannah Scott, Hannah 
Budnitz, Gavin Killip, Scot Wheeler, Alison Smith and 
Nick Eyre

Acknowledgements
This report has been written by the University of 
Oxford’s Environmental Change Institute (ECI) and 
Bioregional, with support from individuals from the 
Transport Studies Unit and Engineering Department. 

This report has been funded by a consortium of key 
stakeholders in Oxfordshire. The team would like to 
thank all those who offered advice, contributions and 
comments to this project. In particular, we are grateful 
to the members of the Steering Group: Ahmed Goga 
(OxLEP), Sarah Gilbert (Oxfordshire County Council), 
Sam Thomas (Cherwell DC), Vanessa Scott (West 
Oxfordshire DC), Tim Sadler (Oxford City Council), 
Michelle Wells (South and Vale DCs), David Hartley 
(Oxford Brookes), Stephen Brown (OxLEP and Oxford 
Brookes), Steve Atkins (SSEN), Barbara Hammond 
(Low Carbon Hub), Maxine Narburgh (GSEEH), Lisa 
Bedwell (Oxford Sciences Innovation), Nick Mottram 
(Oxfordshire County Council). In addition, we also 
value the comments and suggestions from both Stuart 
Wilkinson (Oxford University), and Stefan Robinson 
(Oxfordshire Growth Board). We are also grateful to 
Alexandra Capita and Heather Waller, who provided 
administrative support to the project.

© Environmental Change Institute, 2021

Environmental Change Institute, OUCE,  
South Parks Road, Oxford OX1 3QY

www.eci.ox.ac.uk

eci

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 9


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes from South CEEAC 26 April 2021
	Minutes


	6 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils Policy for Planting Trees on Council Land
	7 Retrofit Scrutiny Report - Feedback from Joint Scrutiny Committee and discussion
	9 Pathways to Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report

